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EIGHTEENTH-CENTURY 

MALAYA AND THE BUGIS  

 

We have read in the previous chapter 

how Sultan Ibrahim of Johore 

obtained Bugis mercenary assistance 

against Jambi and how these 

mercenaries had been extremely useful 

to him. We will now learn how the 

Bugis were to return to Malaya again 

to provide mercenary help to the 

Johore Sultan in another struggle 

against invaders from Sumatra. On 

their first visit to Johore the Bugis had 

recognized how useful had been their 

help. The second occasion was to 

confirm their indispense ability. As it 

turned out the Bugis decided that the 

Malay Peninsula jjrould be able to 

provide them with plenty of 

opportunities for war and wealth, 

settlement and prosperity. Once they 

had been brought to Malaya the Bugis 

were to prove extremely difficult to 

dislodge. They were to attack and 

ravage both Kedah and Perak, they 

were to cause considerable discomfort 

to the Dutch, they were to become the 

rulers of the Johore Empire, in 

practice if not in name, and finally 

they were to establish sufficient 

settlements in the area which is now 

Selangor for them to establish their 

own sultanate. Thus it can be seen that 

a great part of Malaya‘s history in the 

eighteenth century has to do with 

Bugis.  

The Bugis came from the Celebes 

Islands in the eastern part of the 

Indonesian Archipelago, and more 

especially they set sail from the port of 

Macassar. They were extremely skilful 
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BUGIS checked 7 h 33, 23/4 

Trong chƣơng trƣớc, chúng ta đã học về 

cách thức quy tụ những ngƣời lính đánh 

thuê Bugis của Sultan Ibrahim ở Johore  

chống lại Jambi và vai trò hổ trợ cực kỳ 

lớn của những ngƣời lính đánh thuê này 

cho ông ta. Bây giờ chúng ta sẽ tìm hiểu 

cách thức mà ngƣời Bugis quay trở lại 

Malaysia, trở thành lính đánh thuê cho 

Johore Sultan trong một cuộc đấu tranh 

chống lại những kẻ xâm lƣợc từ 

Sumatra. Trong chuyến đi đầu tiên của 

họ tới Johore, ngƣời Bugis đã nhận ra 

đƣợc vai trò đặc biệt của mình. Và với 

lần thứ 2 này vai trò của họ đã đƣợc 

khẳng định hơn bao giờ hết. Cuối cùng, 

ngƣời Bugis quyết định rằng bán đảo 

Mã Lai có thể mang lại cho họ rất nhiều 

cơ hội về chiến tranh và sự giàu có, ổn 

định và thịnh vƣợng. Một khi đã đƣợc 

đƣa đến Malaysia, ngƣời Bugis rất khó 

để bị trục xuất. Họ đã tấn công và tàn 

phá cả Kedah và Perak, họ đã gây ra 

nhiều khó khăn đáng kể cho Hà Lan, họ 

đã trở thành những ngƣời cai trị của đế 

quốc Johore. Từ những con ngƣời vô 

danh, cuối cùng, họ đã thành lập đƣợc 

các khu định cƣ trong khu vực mà bây 

giờ còn gọi là Selangor để thiết lập 

vƣơng quốc riêng. Nhƣ vậy, ta có thể 

thấy rằng một phần lớn lịch sử Malaysia 

ở thế kỷ thứ mƣời tám gắn liền sự 

nghiệp của ngƣời Bugis. 

 

 

Ngƣời Bugis đến từ các hòn đảo 

Celebes, nằm ở phía đông của quần đảo 

Indonesia, và điều đặc biệt hơn là họ 

giăng buồm rời khỏi cái nôi của mình từ 

cảng Macassar. Họ là những thủy thủ 



sailors, and the fleets became well 

known among the traders of South-

East Asia; Francis Light called them 

the best merchants among the eastern 

islands. The ugis were also fierce 

warriors; this plus skilful seamanship 

enabled ^their adventurous instincts to 

be given full scope. From the middle 

of |he seventeenth century, the Bugis 

fleets had begun to appear in many 

parts of the Archipelago. They were 

willing to hire themselves out as 

mercenary soldiers, but they were also 

interested in places for settlements, 

particularly areas that were sparsely 

populated. Thus, they; took to the area 

now known as Selangor lying between 

the Perak- River and the Minangkabau 

settlements south of Klang and in 

Sunger Ujong. By 168 r the Bugis had 

begun to settle in moderately small; 

numbers in this area. 

RIVALRY IN THE JOHORE 

SULTANATE 

It was the misfortunes of the Johore 

Sultanate which gave the Bugis the 

greatest opportunity to transfer their 

centre of interest from the outlying 

area of Selangor to the more central 

position of Riau. In 1718 Johore 

became involved in a quarrel with the 

Minangkabau state of Siak in Sumatra. 

The cause of the quarrel is obscure but 

it may well have been due to the 

tyrannical rule of Johore by the 

Sultan‘s younger brother who had by 

this time taken over the government of 

the state: The Sultan‘s brother was 

very much a supporter of the Bugis 

faction at the Johore court and the 

increasing influence of the Bugis was 

resented by the other Malay chiefs, 

especially those who had always 

opposed the Bendahara family. These 

cực kỳ tài giỏi, và các đội tàu của họ trở 

nên nổi tiếng trong số các tàu buôn ở 

Đông Nam Á; Thuyền trƣởng Francis 

Light gọi họ là những thƣơng gia giỏi 

nhất thuộc các hòn đảo nằm phía đông.  

Ngƣời Bugis cũng là những chiến binh 

hung tợn; khả năng đi biển khéo léo 

càng làm cho bản năng mạo hiểm của 

họ trở nên hoàn hiện. Từ giữa thế kỷ 

XVII, các đội tàu Bugis đã bắt đầu xuất 

hiện ở nhiều nơi trên quần đảo. Họ sẵn 

sàng cho việc trở thành những ngƣời 

lính đánh thuê, nhƣng họ cũng thích 

những nơi có thể định cƣ, đặc biệt là 

những vùng dân cƣ thƣa thớt. Vì thế, họ 

chuyển đến vùng hiện nay có tên gọi là 

Selangor nằm giữa sông Perak và khu 

Minangkabau phía nam của Klang và ở 

Sunger Ujong. Vào năm 168, số ngƣời 

Bugis định cƣ ở khu vực này tƣơng đối 

nhỏ. 

 

CẠNH TRANH TRONG LÃNH THỔ 

JOHORE 

Chính những điều không may trong lãnh 

thổ Johore đã tạo điều kiện cho ngƣời 

Bugis chuyển sự chú ý của mình từ 

vùng ven Selangor tới một địa thế trung 

tâm hơn của Riau. Vào năm 1718 

Johore bắt đầu có xung đột với bang 

Minangkabau của Siak ở Sumatra. 

Nguyên nhân của xung đột không rõ 

ràng, nhƣng có thể xuất phát từ chế độ 

độc tài của Johore do em trai của quốc 

vƣơng đoạt quyền vị. Em trai quốc 

vƣơng đứng về phe Bugis trong triều đại 

Johore và việc tầm ảnh hƣởng của 

ngƣời Bugis ngày càng lớn vấp phải 

phản đối bởi các thủ lĩnh ngƣời Malay 

khác, đặc biệt là bởi những ngƣời luôn 

chống lại gia đình Bendahara. Các thủ 

lĩnh này đứng về phe Raja Kechil, vị 

thái tử ngƣời Sumatra lúc bấy giờ đang 

bắt đầu góp mặt vào công việc triều 



same chiefs were to be the supporters 

of Raja Kechil, a Sumatran prince who 

was now to become involved in the 

affairs of the Johore Empire. The 

sultan, Abdul Jalil, had been 

considered a good ruler. He is 

described by an English sea captain, 

Alexander Hamilton, as ‗a prince of 

great moderation and justice who 

governed well while he held the 

government in his own hands‘.1 

 

However by 1718 Sultan Abdul Jalil 

no longer ‗held the government in his 

own hands‘ and Raja Kechil, the ruler 

of Siak, descended on the Johore 

capital with his forces to drive out the 

Sultan‘s brother and his supporters. 

The Johore forces were largely 

unprepared for thiji attack—in fact 

many in Johore were already 

supporters of the attack ing army—

and Raja Kechil had little difficulty in 

overcoming t$ forces of the Sultan‘s 

brother. The Sultan himself, after first 

submits ting to the invader, very soon 

fled to Pahang where he was 

assassinate on Raja Kechil‘s orders. 

The latter now proclaimed himself 

Sultan OH Johore, a position which he 

maintained for four years. In 1719 h« 

moved the capital of his newly 

acquired kingdom from the Johoij 

River to Riau, for he considered the 

latter easier to defend. This movi 

 

 

It is interesting that in 1703 the Sultan 

offered to give the island of 

SingapoajR to Hamilton who replied 

he did not want it himself but that the 

island wouM be a suitable place for a 

trading company to have a colony. 

The reason wh«® he gave was very 

chính của Đế chế Johore. Quốc vƣơng 

Abdul Jalil trƣớc giờ luôn đƣợc coi là 

ngƣời cai trị giỏi. Alexander Hamilton, 

một vị thuyền trƣởng ngƣời Anh, từng 

mô tả quốc vƣơng là ―một vị vua đúng 

mực và biết lẽ phải đã cai quản vƣơng 

quốc rất tốt trong thời kỳ trị vì của 

mình‖. 
(1)

 

 

 

 

 

Thế nhƣng vào năm 1718 quốc vƣơng 

Abdul Jalil không còn ―nắm quyền điều 

hành đất nƣớc‖ nữa và Raja Kechil, kẻ 

trị vì Siak, đã cùng với lực lƣợng của 

mình bất ngờ tấn công thủ đô Jahore 

đánh bại ngƣời anh Quốc vƣơng và các 

thân cận của ông. Đội quân Johore 

không hề đề phòng cuộc tấn công này – 

thực tế là khá nhiều trong số này lại ủng 

hộ quân đội tấn công – và Raja Kechil 

gặp không mấy khó khăn để đánh bại 

lực lƣợng của ngƣời anh Quốc vƣơng 

này. Không lâu sau khi đầu hang quân 

tấn công, vị quốc vƣơng bỏ trốn đến 

Pahang và chính tại đây ông đã bị ám 

sát theo mệnh lệnh của Raja Kechil. Lúc 

này Raja Kechil tuyên bố mình là quốc 

vƣơng của Johore và giữ chức này đƣợc 

trong 4 năm. Năm 1719 ông dời đô của 

vƣơng quốc mình vừa chiếm đóng đƣợc 

từ sông Johore đến Riau, vì ông cho 

rằng Riau là nơi dễ phòng vệ hơn.  
 

 

 

(1
)  Có một sự thật thú vị rằng vào năm 

1703 vị quốc vƣơng đề nghị trao đảo 

Singapore vào tay Hamilton thì ông đáp 

trả rằng bản thân ông không muốn hòn 

đảo nhƣng nó sẽ là nơi thích hợp để trở 

thành thuộc địa của một tập đoàn 

thƣơng mại. Lý do ông đƣa ra rất giống 



similar to that which later appealed to 

Raffles, namely thin Singapore lay in 

the centre of the trade of South-East 

Asia. *j 

Eighteenth-Century Malaya and the 
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is noteworthy because the capital of 

Johore never returned to the area of 

the Johore River, an area which it had 

occupied off and on since 1540. The 

capital was to remain away from the 

mainland until the final disintegration 

of the Johore Empire in 1812. Raja 

Kechil himself was probably little 

more than an adventurer, and as it 

turned out he was not strong enough to 

stem the rising tide of Bugis influence. 

However J he was the last Malay 

leader to put up strong resistance to 

the [encroachments of these warriors 

from the Celebes. In the end he 

Ifailed, especially in the Malay 

Peninsula, which very soon was ; 

dominated by the Bugis. In 1722 Raja 

Kechil himself was driven out 

LofRiau and forced back to Siak by 

Bugis attacks which were aimed at i 

re-establishing a Bugis-supported ruler 

of Johore. From Siak, Raja [•Kechil 

continued the fight until the 1740‘s, 

appearing here and there jjin the 

Straits to help those who were 

resisting the Bugis. In 1724 he K was 

active in Kedah where a campaign 

against the Bugis lasted for two- f 

years. He died finally in 1745, the 

upholder of a lost cause. 

 

THE GROWING INFLUENCE OF 

THE BUGIS |  

 

Meanwhile in 1722 the Bugis had 

returned in strength to Johore, ^and 

their forces led by Daeng Perani and 

với nhận định của Raffles, cho rằng 

Singapore sẽ là trung tâm thƣơng mại 

của khu vực Đông Nam Á. 

 

 

 

Việc dời đô này rất đáng chú ý vì thủ đô 

của Jahore chƣa bao giờ quay trở lại khu 

vực Sông Johore, khu vực này đƣợc 

luân phiên chiếm đóng kể từ năm 1540. 

Thủ đô này luôn nằm cách xa vùng đất 

liền cho tới trƣớc thời kỳ chia cắt cuối 

cùng của đế chế Johore năm 1812. Raja 

Kechil có phần hơn một nhà thám hiểm 

đôi chút nhƣng cuối cùng ông không đủ 

mạnh để ngăn chặn tầm ảnh hƣởng 

mạnh mẽ của ngƣời Bugis. Dù sao thì 

ông cũng là lãnh tụ Malay cuối cùng 

chống trả quyết liệt lại sự xâm phạm của 

các chiến binh đến từ Celebes này. Cuối 

cùng ông đã thất bại, đặc biệt là ở bán 

đảo Malay, vùng đất sau đó không lâu 

đã bị chiếm đóng bởi ngƣời Bugis. Vào 

năm 1722 Raja Kechil đã bị trục xuất 

khỏi Riau và buộc phải quay lại Siak 

trong cuộc tấn công của ngƣời Bugis 

nhằm vào việc tái thiết lập một đế chế 

phe Bugis tại Johore. Từ Siak, Raja 

Kechil tiếp tục chống trả cho tới những 

thập niên 1740, thoắt ẩn thoắt hiện ở 

quanh khu vực eo biển để trợ giúp các 

thế lực đánh trả ngƣời Bugis. Năm 1724 

ông tham gia vào chiến dịch Kedah 

nhằm chống lại ngƣời Bugis trong 2 

năm. Sau cùng ông mất năm 1745, vì 

một nguyên do chƣa đƣợc chứng thực. 

 

 

TẦM ẢNH HƢỞNG SÂU RỘNG CỦA 

NGƢỜI BUGIS 

 

Trong thời gian đó, vào năm 1722, 

ngƣời Bugis đã khôi phục sức mạnh tại 

Johore, các lực lƣợng dẫn dắt bởi Daeng 



his four brothers—Daeng |Merambun, 

Daeng Merewah, Daeng Chelak and 

Daeng Kemboja— *?put back on the 

throne the eldest son of the Bendahara 

Sultan. His '.title was Sultan Sulaiman 

Badr al-Alam Shah but he was sultan 

only fin name, as were to be all his 

descendants during the remainder of 

the ^eighteenth century. The Bugis 

placed him on the throne as a puppet 

jiuler, as someone who would obtain 

the allegiance of the Johore 

population. They also appointed a 

Bugis under-King, or Yang di-Per- 

'Uuan Muda, who was in fact the real 

power behind the throne. All [•power 

was therefore in the hands of the 

Bugis, but they ruled through iihe 

figurehead of the Sultan. The first 

under-King was Daeng Merewah, jbut 

although the Bugis were now in 

control of Johore they were not 

particularly interested in the state 

itself. They were far more interested 

$n using it as their base for operations 

against the other states of the 

peninsula. Johore itself they largely 

neglected, and it was during the Bugis 

period of dominance that the Johore 

Empire finally broke up. 

 

Already established in Selangor, the 

Bugis first of all turned their attention 

to the northern states on the west 

coast—Kedah and then lerak. We have 

stated above that the Bugis began their 

campaigns by Intervening in Kedah to 

defeat Raja Kechil. The fighting in 

Kedah pasted almost two years (1724-

6), and the damage to Kedah‘s trade 

waft enormous. Daeng Perani himself 

was killed during the fighting butj 

ultimately the Bugis were successful. 

The first under-King, Daeng 

Perani cùng 4 ngƣời anh em – Daeng 

Merambun, Daeng Merewah, Daeng 

Chelak và Daeng Kemboja – đã trao 

ngai vàng cho ngƣời con cả của quốc 

vƣơng Bendahara. Tƣớc hiệu của ông là 

Vua Sulaiman Badr al-Alam nhƣng ông 

ấy chỉ làm vua trên danh nghĩa, tƣơng tự 

đối với hậu duệ của ông trong nửa còn 

lại của thế kỷ thứ 18. Ngƣời Bugis chỉ 

tôn ông lên để làm vua bù nhìn, là nhân 

vật nhận đƣợc lòng trung thành của dân 

chúng Bugis. Họ cũng chỉ định một vị 

tiểu vƣơng Bugis, còn gọi là Yang di-

Perluan Muda, ngƣời nắm thực quyền 

đứng sau ngai vàng. Tất cả thực quyền 

nằm trong tay ngƣời Bugis, nhƣng họ  

chỉ đạo thông qua các vị vua bù nhìn. Vị 

tiểu vƣơng đầu tiên chính là Daeng 

Merewah, nhƣng cho dù ngƣời Bugis 

nắm quyền kiểm soát Johore, họ không 

thực sự hứng thú với vùng đất này. Họ 

xem đây là bàn đạp để chống lại các 

vùng đất khác trong Peninsula. Họ 

không quan tâm đầy đủ đến Johore, và 

chính trong thời kỳ chiếm đóng của 

ngƣời Bugis mà đế chế Johore cuối 

cùng bị tan rã.  

 

 

 

 

Sau khi đã ổn định tại Selangor, ngƣời 

Bugis đầu tiên chuyển hƣớng sang chú ý 

tới khu vực phía Bắc của bờ biển phía 

Tây – Kedah và sau đó tới Perak. Phía 

trên đây chúng tôi đã đề cập tới việc 

ngƣời Bugis bắt đầu chiến dịch của 

mình bằng cách can thiệp vào Kedah để 

đánh bại Raja Kechil. Cuộc chiến tại 

Kedah kéo dài gần 2 năm (1724-6) và 

đã gây ra tổn hại đáng kể đối với thƣơng 

mại của Kedah. Daeng Perani hi sinh 

trong cuộc chiến này nhƣng cuối cùng 

thì ngƣời Bugis cũng đã giành thắng lợi. 



Merewah, died in 1728, and he was 

succeeded in that office by hii brother, 

Daeng Chelak. Perak was now in the 

unfortunate position of being between 

the Bugis in Selangor and their 

Minangkabau supported rivals in 

Kedah. Neither side was content to 

have Perak remain a buffer state, but 

both wished to ensure that their rivals 

were not established there. As a result 

Perak was invaded from both quarters. 

One such Bugis invasion occurred in 

1742 and on this occasion due to 

quarrels among the Perak chiefs some 

of them joined the Bugis. This group 

was able to capture the regalia, and the 

Raja Muda was made an alternative 

sultan. Thus for about eight years then 

were two sultans in Perak and as a' 

result of Bugis interference the state 

was sharply divided. 

 

 

 

Another important event took place in 

1742. This was the creation of Raja 

Lumu, a son of Daeng Chelak, as the 

first sultan of Selangor. This illustrates 

the permanence of Bugis settlement in 

the Peninsula and also the strength of 

their position, for they were thus able 

to establish a new dynasty. Selangor 

was for some years in the 1740‘s the 

centre of their influence and when 

Daeng Kemboja became the third 

under-King in 1745 he did not even 

bother to go to Riau to obtain the 

Sultan of Johore‘s approval. This lack 

of interest in Johore and its 

dependencies by the Bugis encouraged 

the Sultan to think about a more 

independent line of action in liaison 

with the Dutch. 

 

Vị tiểu vƣơng đầu tiên, Daeng 

Merewah, mất vào năm 1728, và ngƣời 

kế vị chính là em trai ông, Daeng 

Chelak. Perak lúc này ở vào vị thế kẹt 

giữa ngƣời Bugis ở Selangor và đối thủ 

ủng hộ Minangkabau ở Kedah. Cả đôi 

bên đều không ủng hộ việc Perak là một 

vùng đất trung lập, nhƣng cả hai đều 

mong muốn đảm bảo rằng đối phƣơng 

của họ không thiết lập đế chế lớn mạnh 

ở đó. Kết quả là Perak đã bị tấn công 

bởi cả hai phía. Một trong những cuộc 

tấn công của ngƣời Bugis diễn ra vào 

năm 1742 và xuất phát từ những mâu 

thuẫn trong dịp này giữa những thủ lĩnh 

của Perak, vài ngƣời trong số họ đã gia 

nhập phe Bugis. Nhóm ngƣời này có 

khả năng đoạt đƣợc những biểu trƣng 

của nhà vua và do vậy họ chọn Raja 

Muda nhƣ một vị vua thay thế. Vì vậy 

trong suốt 8 năm tại Perak có 2 quốc 

vƣơng và đƣơng nhiên sự cai trị của 

ngƣời Bugis tại đây cũng bị chia làm 

đôi. 

Có một sự kiện quan trọng khác diễn ra 

năm 1742. Đó chính là việc Raja Lumu, 

con của Daeng Chelak, trở thành quốc 

vƣơng đầu tiên của Selangor. Việc này 

là minh chứng cho sự cai trị bền lâu của 

ngƣời Bugis tại Peninsula và sức mạnh 

vị thế của họ, vì chính họ có khả năng 

thiết lập triều đại mới. Trong vài năm 

của thập niên 1740, Selangor trở thành 

trung tâm ảnh hƣởng lớn và khi Daeng 

Kemboja trở thành tiểu vƣơng thứ 3 vào 

năm 1745, ông thậm chí còn không đi 

tới Riau để xin chấp thuận của quốc 

vƣơng Johore. Việc ngƣời Bugis kém 

chú trọng tới Johore và các vùng phụ 

thuộc đã khiến ngƣời Sultan nghĩ về 

cách hoạt động độc lập nhờ có liên kết 

với ngƣời Hà Lan. 

 

 



 

The Dutch were naturally becoming 

worried by the expansion of Bugis 

influence in the Peninsula for they saw 

this as a threat to their trade 

monopoly. The fighting spirit of the 

Bugis made them formid: able rivals. 

Realizing that the Dutch were also 

suffering from Bugis activity, the 

Johore Sultan was encouraged to 

approach them with a view to 

obtaining Dutch assistance, against the 

under-King. A treaty was in fact made 

between Johore and the Dutch 

authorities in 1745, by which, in return 

for their help, the Dutch were to be 

given Siak; though it is doubtful 

whether Johore‘s control over Siak 

was strong enough to make this 

cession definitely possible. 

 

 

Despite a further treaty between 

Johore and the Dutch in 1755 the 

results of the fighting which took 

place between the Bugis and the Dutch 

were inconclusive. Johore gained only 

a temporary respite from the Bugis 

when the under-King moved to the 

island of Lingga. How ever Dutch 

attempts to aid the Sultan of Johore 

were sufficient to widen the breach 

between themselves and the Bugis. 

Thus in 175$ after a Dutch all-day 

attack on Lingga, the Bugis landed 

outside Malacca causing considerable 

damage in the suburbs, and it was 

some months before they were driven 

back into Selangor. The Dutch, 

although they were successful in 

preventing the fall of Malacca, began 

b lose interest in their support of 

Johore and by 1758 the Bugis were 

rback again in Riau. The following 

 

Ngƣời Hà Lan dĩ nhiên lo ngại về sự 

bành trƣớng của ngƣời Bugis tại 

Peninsula vì họ xem đây là mối đe dọa 

đối với thế độc quyền thƣơng mại của 

mình. Tinh thần chiến đấu của ngƣời 

Bugis biến họ thành những đối thủ đáng 

gờm. Nhận thấy rằng ngƣời Hà Lan 

cũng bị ảnh hƣởng bởi hoạt động của 

ngƣời Bugis, quốc vƣơng Johore đƣợc 

khuyến khích nên tiếp cận họ để nhờ hỗ 

trợ chống lại vị tiểu vƣơng. Sau đó 

ngƣời Johore và chính quyền Hà Lan đã 

đi đến một hiệp ƣớc vào năm 1745, theo 

đó, để đổi lại thì ngƣời Hà Lan sẽ nhận 

đƣợc vùng Siak mặc dù vẫn còn những 

nghi ngại về khả năng kiểm soát của 

ngƣời Johore có đủ để biến cuộc chuyển 

nhƣợng này thành hiện thực. 

 

 

 

Dù cho sau đó có các thỏa thuận bổ 

sung giữa ngƣời Johore và Hà Lan vào 

năm 1755, cuộc chiến giữa ngƣời Bugis 

và Hà Lan vẫn chƣa đi đến hồi kết. 

Ngƣời Johore chỉ tạm chiến đƣợc một 

thời gian khi vị tiểu vƣơng di chuyển 

đến đảo của Lingga. Tuy nhiên những 

nỗ lực của ngƣời Hà Lan để hỗ trợ quốc 

vƣơng Johore cũng đủ để khắc sâu them 

mâu thuẫn giữa họ và ngƣời Bugis. Vì 

vậy vào năm 1756, sau khi quân Hà Lan 

tấn công Lingga nguyên ngày, ngƣời 

Bugis đổ bộ bên ngoài Malacca đã gây 

ra thiệt hại đáng kể cho các vùng ven, 

và cũng mất vài tháng trƣớc khi họ bị 

đánh lui về Selangor. Tuy ngƣời Hà Lan 

đã thành công trong việc bảo vệ 

Malacca, họ bắt đầu mất hứng thú trong 

việc hỗ trợ ngƣời Johore, và vào năm 

1758, ngƣời Bugis đã quay lại Riau. 

Một năm sau đó quốc vƣơng Sulaiman 

của Johore qua đời, để lại thành trì nhỏ 



year Sultan Sulaiman of Johore tfied, 

leaving his state much smaller than he 

had found it. 

The Johore Empire had by this time 

virtually ceased to exist; Siak now had 

its own ruler as did Selangor. The area 

inland from Malacca was controlled 

by the Minangkabau inhabitants, 

Johore was hardly Administered at all, 

and all that remained was Riau itself. 

The two succeeding sultans, Abdul 

Jalil and his son Ahmad, both died by 

1761, and despite the protests of the 

Malay chiefs, the Bugis insisted on 

putting on the throne Mahmud, the 

infant grandson of Sultan Sulai¬man 

who was one year old. It meant, of 

course, that all administrative power 

now certainly lay with under-King 

Daeng Kemboja, and the interests of 

Johore were completely subordinated 

to those of the Bugis. One result of 

this Bugis domination was the 

elimination of friction •between the 

Malays and the Bugis and the 

removal, for the time being, lof the 

Dutch excuse for interference. During 

the later 176o‘s and 1770*5 ^relations 

between the Bugis and the Dutch were 

fairly cordial, for the Dutch 

themselves were not able to maintain 

their own monopolistic , position 

against other European rivals. 

I One of the most remarkable of the 

Bugis leaders came to the height |of 

his eventful career at this time. His 

name was Raja Haji, and he Ibecame 

under-King himself when Daeng 

Kemboja died in 1777. Rajar 1 rHaji 

was perhaps the most renowned of all 

the Bugis warrior captains, ftas 

Windstedt says ‗the fighter whom 

every ruler wanted on his side‘. jHe 

was the son of Daeng Chelak, the 

hơn lúc ban đầu ông sáng lập ra. 

 

 

Đế chế của ngƣời Johore gần nhƣ không 

còn tồn tại nữa; Siak cũng có ngƣời trị 

vì riêng nhƣ Selangor.  Khu vực trong 

đất liền của Malacca do các cƣ dân 

Minangkabau kiểm soát, Johore gần nhƣ 

không có ngƣời cai trị, và Riau tồn tại 

độc lập. Hai quốc vƣơng kế vị, Abdul 

Jalil và con trai Ahmad đều mất vào 

năm 1761, và bất chấp sự phản đối của 

các thủ lĩnh Malay, ngƣời Bugis vẫn 

kiên quyết truyền ngôi báu cho 

Mahmud, cháu trai mới 1 tuổi của 

Sultan Sulaiman. Đƣơng nhiên, điều này 

đồng nghĩa rằng mọi quyền hành đều 

nằm trong tay tiểu vƣơng Daeng 

Kemboja, và tƣơng lai Johore phụ thuộc 

vào ngƣời Bugis. Một kết quả của sự 

thống trị bởi ngƣời Bugis chính là việc 

loại bỏ đƣợc xích mích giữa ngƣời 

Malay và Bugis cũng nhƣ việc loại trừ 

những ngụy biện của ngƣời Hà Lan cho 

việc can thiệp của họ. Trong nửa sau 

thập niên 1760 và 1770, ngƣời Bugis và 

Hà Lan khá hòa thuận với nhau, vì 

ngƣời Hà Lan không thể tự mình duy trì 

thế độc quyền so với những đối thủ 

châu Âu khác. 

 

 

 

Ở giai đoạn này, một trong những thủ 

lĩnh kiệt xuất của ngƣời Bugis đã đạt 

đến đỉnh cao sự nghiệp. Tên ông là Raja 

Haji, ông đã trở thành tiểu vƣơng khi 

Daeng Kemboja qua đời năm 1777. 

Raja Haji có lẽ là một trong những thủ 

lĩnh đội quân Bugis nổi tiếng nhất, nhƣ 

Windstedt nói ―chiến binh mà mọi kẻ trị 

vì đều muốn đƣợc sở hữu‖. Ông là con 

trai của Daeng Chelak, vị tiểu vƣơng 

thứ 2, và là anh của Raja Lumu, quốc 



second under-King and the ^brother of 

Raja Lumu, the first sultan of 

Selangor—and he might be described 

as the Bugis mercenary par excellence. 

His early life was lin fact spent in 

fighting in various parts of the 

Malayan Archipelago [on behalf of an 

assortment of rulers—Jambi, Indragiri 

and Pontianak [in Borneo, amongst 

others. He was by the 1760‘s the 

principal assistant Pof Daeng 

Kemboja, with the title of To‘ Klana. 

It was to Kedah that Raja Haji first 

turned his attention at this |time—

Kedah being far enough north to be 

free from much Dutch |control and 

fairly free from the Bugis as well. On 

his way to Kedah £with his brother, 

the Sultan of Selangor, Raja Haji spent 

some time on hi visit to Perak where 

he demanded that the Sultan of 

Perak‘s niece  
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should marry his brother. The Bugis 

then continued on to Kedah t demand 

the payment of money which they said 

was due from th 1724 campaign.

 I 

Kedah in these circumstances could 

expect little help from her over lord, 

Siam. The Siamese authorities had not 

in fact been very interest ed in their 

Malayan vassals for some time. The 

north Malayan stata were very far 

from the Siamese capital, and the 

Siamese exerted litti direct influence. 

Furthermore, during the i76o‘s Siam 

was again involis ed in another round 

of her long drawn-out quarrel with 

Burma, ad at this stage the Burmese 

were the more successful. In 1767 the 

Bur mese army had attacked and 

destroyed the Siamese capital of 

Ayuthi* situated about forty-five miles 

vƣơng đầu tiên của Selangor – và cũng 

có thể mô tả nhƣ chiến binh Bugis hạng 

nhất. Thực tế ông đã cống hiển tuổi 

thanh xuân của mình cho những trận 

chiến của các quần đảo Malay nhân 

danh nhiều kẻ thống lĩnh đủ mọi hạng – 

Jambi, Indragrini và Pontianak ở 

Borneo, cùng nhiều ngƣời khác nữa. 

Đến thập niên 1760 ông là trợ thủ đắc 

lực cho Daeng Kemboja, với tƣớc hiệu 

―To‘ Klana‖. 

 

Thời điểm này Raja Haja chú ý ngay tới 

Kedah – nơi ở phía Bắc đủ xa để thoát 

khỏi tầm kiểm soát của ngƣời Hà Lan 

cũng nhƣ Bugis. Trên đƣờng đến Kedah 

cùng với em của mình, quốc vƣơng 

Selangor, Raja Haji đã ghé thăm Perak, 

nơi mà ông hỏi cƣới cháu gái của quốc 

vƣơng Perak cho em trai mình. Sau đó 

ngƣời Bugis tiếp tục đi tiếp đến Kedah 

để đòi món nợ mà họ cho là cần thanh 

toán từ trận chiến năm 1724.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Trong những tình huống nhƣ vậy, ngƣời 

Kedah rất hiếm khi có thể trông chờ cứu 

viện từ chủ đất của mình, Siam. Chính 

quyền Siam không thực sự để tâm đến 

những vùng đất phụ thuộc của ngƣời 

Malay này. Khu vực phía Bắc khá xa 

thủ đô Siam, và ngƣời Siam cũng ít khi 

tác động đến nơi này. Ngoài ra, vào thập 

niên 1760 Siam đang phải bận tâm tới 

mâu thuẫn đã có từ lâu với ngƣời 

Burma, mà giai đoạn này Burma đang 

chiếm ƣu thế. Vào năm 1767 quân đội 

Burma đã tấn công và phá hủy thủ đô 

Siam của Ayuthia, cách cửa sông Chao 

Phraya khoảng 45 dặm. Ngƣời Siam 



from the mouth of the Chao Phrayi 

River. The Siamese were in the 

process of moving their capital further 

down stream; in fact they were 

establishing the beginnings of what is 

now Bangkok. Thus in the late 1760‘s 

and early 1770‘s the Siamese had little 

interest in the troubles of Kedah. It 

was because of this that the Sultan 

became fairly desperate for help 

against the marauding Bugis; and he 

approached an English trader named 

Francis Light to see whether the 

English would provide some 

assistance. This was q 1771. In return 

for such assistance the Sultan of 

Kedah was willing to allow the 

English to establish a trading 

settlement in Kedah. How ever the 

English East India Company did not 

wish to become involved in the 

political affairs of the Peninsula by 

aiding Kedah against the Selangor 

Bugis, and the Sultan of Kedah 

withdrew his offer. We shal see below 

how this first offer to the English was 

in fact to lead lata to something much 

more definite, the establishment of a 

Britisl settlement in Penang. 

DUTCH CONFLICT WITH THE 

BUGIS 

 

On this occasion Kedah, without any 

outside assistance, was defeata by 

Raja Haji who then retired from the 

area of the Peninsula ti continue his 

mercenary career in Borneo. It was 

while he was then that Raja Haji heard 

of the death of Daeng Kemboja, the 

under-King in 1777. He returned 

immediately and had himself installed 

as thi fourth under-King in place of 

Daeng Kemboja‘s son, Raja Ali. Raji 

Haji established himself in Riau and 

đang bận dời đô xuôi theo dòng sông; 

và nơi đó chính là khởi điểm cho 

Bangkok ngày nay. Nhƣ vậy nhƣng năm 

1760 và 1770 ngƣời Siam rất ít quan 

tâm tới những vấn đề của Kedah. Chính 

vì lý do này mà quốc vƣơng nơi đây trở 

nên tuyệt vọng trƣớc đoàn quân cƣớp 

bóc Bugis; và ông đã tiếp cận thƣơng 

nhân ngƣời Anh Francis Light để hỏi 

xin trợ giúp từ Anh quốc. Việc này diễn 

ra vào năm 1771. Để đáp lại quốc 

vƣơng Kedah sẵn lòng cho phép ngƣời 

Anh thiết lập mua bán tại Kedah. Tuy 

nhiên Công ty Đông Ấn Độ của nƣớc 

Anh lại không thích dính vào các sự 

kiện chính trị của Peninsula thông qua 

việc hỗ trợ Kedah chống lại Selangor 

Bugis, vì vậy quốc vƣơng Kedah rút lại 

lời đề nghị của mình. Ở chƣơng dƣới 

đây chúng ta sẽ thấy đƣợc cách mà 

những đề nghị đầu tiên này đối với 

ngƣời Anh đã dẫn tới một điều dễ nhận 

ra hơn, là sự định cƣ của ngƣời Anh tại 

Penang. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NGƯỜI HÀ LAN MÂU THUẪN  

VỚI NGƯỜI BUGIS 

Vào thời điểm này Kedah đã bị đánh bại 

bởi Raja Haji mà không nhận đƣợc bất 

kỳ trợ giúp nào từ bên ngoài, và sau đó 

Raja Haji đã từ bỏ miền đất Penisula để 

tiếp tục cuộc đời lính đánh thuê ở 

Borneo. Cũng chính thời điểm đó Raja 

Haji biết đƣợc tin về cái chết của tiểu 

vƣơng Daeng Kemboja vào năm 1777. 

Ngay lập tức ông quay về và giả dạng 

tiểu vƣơng thứ 4 thay cho con trai của 

Daeng Kemboja, Raja Ali. Raja Haji 

sau đó đã tự công nhận mình ở Riau và 



for some time the new under-Kin| 

lived on good terms with the Dutch, 

although he himself was a deter mined 

and ambitious man and Dutch power 

was obviously declining Then in 1782 

a quarrel between the Dutch and Raja 

Haji broke oul  
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|>?er the capture of an English opium 

ship at Riau: despite an agree¬ment 

the Dutch refused to give the Bugis 

any share of the proceeds ffrom the 

capture. Relations had already become 

strained because the pftugis were 

using Riau as a centre for exporting 

smuggled tin from the Peninsula. As a 

result the Bugis began to attack Dutch 

shipping jin the Straits of Malacca. 

 

This provoked the Dutch to send a 

fleet to capture Raja Haji‘s ^capital at 

Riau, but the Bugis put up strong 

resistance and the Dutch ^attack was 

not successful. The Bugis now quickly 

switched to the ^offensive, and in 

1784 their combined armies laid siege 

to Malacca. jRaja Haji and his men 

from Riau landed to the south of the 

city while Uhe Sultan of Selangor and 

his forces attacked Malacca from the 

[north. 

 

 

The Bugis siege of Malacca lasted 

from January 7th to June 24th, P784, a 

long siege in which the Bugis were 

finally unsuccessful because Uhey 

were unable to capture the fortress. 

Such failure, as we have seen 'Hn the 

past, always decided the battle. To 

capture a fortress as strong Sas that at 

Malacca the attackers needed two 

things on their side: either Isiege guns 

cũng có những khoảng thời gian vị tiểu 

vƣơng mới này sống hòa bình với ngƣời 

Hà Lan, mặc dù bản thân ông là ngƣời 

khá quyết đóan và giàu tham vọng, 

trong khi quyền lực của ngƣời Hà Lan 

đang yếu dần đi. Sau đó vào năm 1782 

một tranh chấp đã xảy ra giữa ngƣời Hà 

Lan và Raja Haji về việc bắt giữ một 

thuyền chở thuốc phiện tại Riau: phớt lờ 

thỏa thuận trƣớc đó, ngƣời Hà Lan từ 

chối chia phần lời thu đƣợc từ vụ bắt 

giữ này với ngƣời Bugis. Trƣớc đó mối 

quan hệ đôi bên đã khá căng thẳng vì 

ngƣời Bugis sử dụng Riau nhƣ trung 

tâm xuất khẩu thiếc nhập lậu từ 

Peninsula. Kết quả là ngƣời Bugis bắt 

đầu tấn công tàu Hà Lan tại eo biển 

Malacca.  

 

 

Việc này đã khiến phía Hà Lan phái một 

hạm đội đến chiếm giữ thủ phủ của Raja 

Haji tại Riau, nhƣng ngƣời Bugis đã 

chống đối quyết liệt và cuộc tấn công 

của quân Hà Lan bị thất bại. Ngƣời 

Bugis nhanh chóng chuyển sang thế tấn 

công, và vào năm 1784 lực lƣợng quân 

đội phối hợp của họ đã tiến hành chiếm 

đóng Malacca. Raja Haji cùng binh lính 

của ông từ Riau chiếm đóng phía Nam 

thành phố, trong khi Quốc vƣơng 

Selangor và quân đội của mình tấn công 

Malacca từ phía Bắc.  

 

Cuộc chiếm đánh Malacca của ngƣời 

Bugis kéo dài từ 7/1/1784 tới 

24/6/1784, là cuộc chiến khá dài nhƣng 

cuối cùng ngƣời Bugis đã không thành 

công vì họ không chiếm đƣợc pháo đài. 

Nhƣ những gì trƣớc đây chúng ta từng 

thấy, việc chiếm pháo đài luôn quyết 

định cục diện cuộc chiến. Để đánh 

chiểm một pháo đài mạnh nhƣ ở 

Malacca, quân đội tấn công sẽ cần hội 



powerful enough to breach the walls 

of the fort or command - of the sea to 

enable the garrison to be starved into 

submission. When |lhe Dutch captured 

Malacca they had command of the sea; 

when the |Portuguese captured the city 

they had overwhelming fire power 

from itheir ships. But the Bugis in 

1784 had neither advantage; they 

could not breach the walls; neither 

could they prevent the arrival of Dutch 

[•reinforcements. 

 

 

These reinforcements from Batavia 

arrived just in time, and they included 

quite large numbers of soldiers. They 

landed outside the city and as a result 

the Bugis were surrounded by the new 

arrivals and the defenders in the 

fortress. In the battle which followed, 

the fighting was very fierce and the 

Dutch lost over seventy men. Raja 

Haji him- |self was killed while the 

battle was at its height and after that 

disaster ; the Bugis began to retreat, 

having lost nearly five hundred men. 

Once .again the city had been saved by 

A Famosa. 

Now that their reinforcements had 

arrived, the Dutch took the offensive. 

The same fleet that had come to 

Malacca from Batavia now ;moved 

against the Bugis stronghold in 

Selangor. Here the Dutch were again 

successful and the Sultan was forced 

to escape to Pahang. The £)utch fleet 

then turned southward against Riau 

itself where the Bugis [fleet was 

defeated. As a result the Bugis were 

expelled from the Johore ^Empire 

which was now to be protected by the 

Dutch. By agreement   

(17^5) they were to have a garrison in 

đủ hai yếu tố: hoặc trang bị súng đủ lực 

công phá tƣờng pháo đài hoặc chiếm 

giữ vùng biển khiến cho đội quân đồn 

đóng vì đói mà phải đầu hàng. Khi 

ngƣời Hà Lan chiếm Malacca họ chiếm 

đóng vùng biển; khi ngƣời Bồ Đào Nha 

đánh chiếm thành phố họ có súng hỏa 

lực mạnh mẽ ở trên tàu. Nhƣng vào năm 

1784 ngƣời Bugis không có cả hai lợi 

thế trên, họ không thể phá vỡ tƣờng 

thành, cũng không thể ngăn chặn quân 

tiếp viện của Hà Lan. 

 

 

Đội quân tiếp viện từ Batavia tới vừa 

kịp lúc, với số lƣợng binh sĩ khá lớn. Họ 

bao vây ngoại thành và kết quả là ngƣời 

Bugis bị vây bởi quân tiếp viện mới đến 

cùng với quân cố thủ trong pháo đài. 

Trong trận chiến sau đó, thế trận rất dữ 

dội và quân Hà Lan tổn thất 70 binh sĩ. 

Raja Haji đã bị giết khi cuộc chiến lên 

đến cao trào và sau sự kiện đó ngƣời 

Bugis bắt đầu rút lui, tổn thất gần 500 

ngƣời. Một lần nữa thành phố đã đƣợc 

bảo vệ bởi A Famosa.  

 

 

 

Khi quân tiếp viện đến, ngƣời Hà Lan 

chuyển sang tấn công. Lực lƣợng đến 

Malacca từ Batavia chuyển sang tấn 

công đồn lũy của ngƣời Bugis tại 

Selangor. Tại đây một lần nữa quân đội 

Hà Lan giành thắng lợi và buộc vị quốc 

vƣơng phải trốn đến Pahang. Quân đội 

Hà Lan sau đó trở xuống phía Nam 

đánh Riau nơi ngƣời Bugis bị đánh bại. 

Kết quả là ngƣời Bugis bị đẩy lùi khỏi 

đế chế Johore, nơi sau đó đƣợc bảo vệ 

bởi quân đội Hà Lan. Theo thỏa thuận 

(1785) họ có quân đóng tại Riau và có 

dân đến ở. Đổi lại Quốc vƣơng của 

Johore chỉ đổi lãnh thổ này lấy lãnh thổ 



Riau as well as a Resident. Ii effect the 

Sultan of Johore had merely 

exchanged one overlord foi another, 

although under the new system he and 

his chiefs did hav( more control over 

the actual administration. 

In the same year, 1785, the Sultan of 

Selangor, returning to his state drove 

the Dutch out of Selangor with 

assistance from Pahang and regained 

possession of his territory. Soon 

afterwards he was in contafl with the 

newly established English settlement 

in Penang to obtain further protection 

against the Dutch. While Selangor was 

successful in keeping the Dutch away 

from actual settlement and further 

intei? ference, the same could not be 

said of Riau. In 1787 the Dutch tool 

over almost the entire administration 

of the island and its immediate 

dependencies, the islands nearby. 

Administrative control over the 

mainland had virtually ceased to exist, 

and Sultan Mahmud was again no 

more than a puppet ruler. This was 

naturally enough a position which he 

did not like, so in the same year he 

encouraged Lanun pirates (from the 

southern part of the island of 

Mindanao) to attack Riau, and they 

drove away the Dutch garrison. 

However very soon he had to flee 

himself when the Lanuns left and the 

Dutch returned. He was now a 

wanderer without a capital, a ruler 

without a kingdom. Sultan Mahmud 

was to remain in this predicament until 

agreement was reached with the Dutch 

in 1795 that the Malays should return 

to Riau. As it happened, by the time 

arrangements had been made for this 

agreement, the Dutch were no longer 

in control of Malacca, and it was from 

khác, mặc dù dƣới hệ thống mới này 

ông ta cùng các thủ lĩnh của mình có 

nhiều quyền hành hơn so với phạm vi 

thực quản lý.  

 

 

Trong cùng năm, 1785, Quốc vƣơng 

Selangor nhờ sự trợ giúp của Pahang đã 

quay về và đuổi đƣợc quân Hà Lan ra 

khỏi Selangor và đã khôi phục đƣợc 

quyền kiểm soát lãnh thổ của mình. 

Ngay sau đó ông đã liên hệ để xác lập 

một thỏa thuận mới với ngƣời Anh tại 

Penang để có thêm sự bảo vệ chống lại 

quân Hà Lan. Mặc dù Selangor đã thành 

công trong việc chống trả sự chiếm 

đóng và can thiệp của quân Hà Lan, 

Riau đã không thành công nhƣ vậy. 

Năm 1787 quân Hà Lan kiểm soát đƣợc 

gần hết hòn đảo cũng nhƣ các vùng phụ 

thuộc, gồm các đảo lân cận. Quyền hành 

quản lý gần nhƣ bị kiểm soát, và quốc 

vƣơng Mahmud một lần nữa không hơn 

một vị quốc vƣơng bù nhìn. Đây chắc 

chắn là vị trí mà vị quốc vƣơng không 

hề mong đợi, vì vậy trong cùng năm 

ông đã kêu gọi quân cƣớp biển Lanun 

(từ vùng phía Nam của hòn đảo 

Mindanao) tấn công Riau, và đội quân 

này đã đuổi đƣợc quân Hà Lan. Tuy 

nhiên không lâu sau đó ông phải bỏ trốn 

khi quân Lanun bỏ đi và quân Hà Lan 

tái chiếm. Ông ta trở thành kẻ đi lang 

thang không của cải, kẻ cai trị mà không 

có vƣơng quốc. Quốc vƣơng Mahmud 

phải duy trì tình trạng túng bấn này cho 

tới khi một thỏa thuận với quân Hà Lan 

đạt đƣợc vào năm 1795 rằng ngƣời 

Malay sẽ đƣợc quay về Riau. Trƣớc khi 

thỏa thuận này đƣợc sắp xếp, quân Hà 

Lan đã không còn kiểm soát Malacca, 

và phải nhờ ngƣời Anh mà quốc vƣơng 

Mahmud mới khôi phục đƣợc quyền lực 

của mình. Phía trên  không cần sửa 



the British that Sultan Mahmud finally 

recovered his island capital. 

THE DECLINE OF THE BUGIS 

The period of Malayan history with 

which we have been dealing inj this 

chapter was largely dominated by the 

Bugis, and the period itself comes to a 

fairly natural end in the mid-i78o‘s 

rather than in 179$ The failure to 

capture Malacca together with the 

defeats in Selangot and Riau mark the 

decline of the Bugis influence in 

Malaya. And although we shall see 

that there was a Bugis under-King in 

Johort until the Empire finally 

disappeared, the Bugis ‗golden age‘ 

was ii; fact over. It was the Dutch who 

finally brought the period of Bugis 

dominance to an end, but it was not in 

fact the Dutch who were te benefit 

from their decline. Those who were to 

benefit were the nd arrivals, the 

British, who had established a 

settlement on Pulau Pinan| o 1786, 

and it was the English East India 

Company which was to eplace both 

the Dutch and the Bugis in the 

nineteenth century. 

The Bugis had left few positive results 

in Malaya apart from the stablishment 

of the Sultanate of Selangor. They 

were not very nterested in politics and 

administration, but rather in wealth 

and idventure. Thus although they 

were immigrants as well as sailors and 

nerchants, they took little interest in 

the countries which they con- |aered. 

The Bugis by their neglect were 

largely responsible for the ffeak-up of 

the Johore Empire and the 

fragmentation of southern Halaya. 

They were, of course, very interested 

in Selangor, the state rhich they 

themselves had founded, but the other 

 

Phần của bạn Huyền Anh 

SỰ SUY YẾU CỦA NGƢỜI BUGI 

Giai đoạn lịch sử của Malaysia đƣợc đề 

cập trong chƣơng này chủ yếu do ngƣời 

Bugi thống trị, và đã chấm dứt khá tự 

nhiên vào giữa thập niên 1780 thay vì 

năm 1799. Việc thất bại khi chiếm đóng 

Malacca và bị đánh bại tại Selangor và 

Riau đã đánh dấu sự suy yếu của ngƣời 

Bugi tại Malaya. Và mặc dù vẫn còn 

tiểu vƣơng Bugi ở Johore trƣớc khi đế 

chế này biến mất hoàn toàn, nhƣng ―kỷ 

nguyên vàng‖ của ngƣời Bugi thực tế đã 

trôi qua. Chính ngƣời Hà Lan đã đặt dấu 

chấm hết cho kỷ nguyên của ngƣời 

Bugi, nhƣng họ lại không đƣợc lợi lộc 

gì. Ngƣời Anh mới là phía có lợi từ việc 

này, họ chiếm đóng khu vực Pulau 

Pinang vào năm 1786, và vào thế kỷ thứ 

XIX Công ty Đông Ấn của Anh đã thế 

chỗ của Công ty của ngƣời Hà Lan và 

Bugi. 

 

 

 

 

 

Ngƣời Bugi đã để lại một số kết quả tích 

cực ở Malaya bên cạnh việc thiết lập 

lãnh thổ Selangor. Họ không hứng thú 

với chính trị và quyền lực, nhƣng lại 

thích sự giàu có và phiêu lƣu. Nhƣ vậy 

mặc dù họ là những ngƣời tới định cƣ 

cũng nhƣ là thủy thủ và thƣơng gia, họ 

không quan tâm nhiều đến những vùng 

đất mình chiếm đƣợc. Chính sự hờ hững 

này của họ là nguyên nhân chính dẫn tới 

sự sụp đổ của đế chế Johore và sự chia 

rẽ ở phía Nam Malaya. Dĩ nhiên họ rất 

chú tâm tới Selangor, vùng đất do họ tự 

lập nên, nhƣng những vùng đất khác của 

Bán đảo chỉ trở nên quan trọng khi 

chúng phù hợp với mục đích của ngƣời 



states of the Penin- lula were only 

important to the Bugis when they 

could be used to further Bugis policy. 

Thus in the long run Bugis political 

influence in Johore was disastrous, for 

the interests of Johore were largely 

Kglected, so much so that the break-

up of the Empire was presided jver by 

the Bugis under-King. We shall see in 

the following chapter bow the division 

of Johore was made permanent when 

the British purchased the island of 

Singapore in 1819. 

Although the Bugis had been the 

dominant influence in Malayan iffairs 

throughout the major part of the 

eighteenth century, there were ilso 

large areas of the Peninsula where 

they were little known. We have seen 

above how, on occasions, the Bugis 

had attacked Kedah, state that was 

nominally subject to Siam. However, 

during the middle of the century 

especially, Siamese interest was 

largely con¬centrated on their conflict 

with Burma. Thus although Kedah still 

remained under Siamese suzerainty, 

the Bugis were able to interfere diere. 

This policy was also followed in 

another west-coast state, Perak, which 

found itself sandwiched between the 

Bugis in Selangor and the Siamese-

supported Kedah in the north and we 

have seen how Perak was subjected to 

periodic pressure from the Bugis. The 

other main poup on the west coast was 

the Minangkabau in the territory 

inland from Malacca—Naning, Sungei 

Ujong and Rembau. These Minang- 

abau settlers from Sumatra had been 

living in these areas since the jirae of 

the Malacca Sultanate when they had 

originally been Hindus, they had later 

become Muslims and their inter-

Bugi. Nhƣ vậy xét về lâu dài, ảnh 

hƣởng chính trị của ngƣời Bugi với 

Johore là một thảm họa, vì lợi ích của 

Johore đa phần bị lãng quên, vì thế sự 

tan rã của cả đế chế là do tiểu vƣơng 

ngƣời Bugi. Trong chƣơng kế tiếp, 

chúng ta sẽ thấy đƣợc việc chia cắt 

Johore đã trở thành vĩnh viễn khi ngƣời 

Anh mua lại hòn đảo Singapore vào 

năm 1819. 

 

 

 

Mặc dù xuyên suốt thế kỷ thứ XVIII, 

ngƣời Bugi có tầm ảnh hƣởng lớn đến 

giao thƣơng của Malaya, vẫn có một số 

vùng của Bán đảo ít có mặt họ. Phía 

trên đây, chúng ta từng thấy thỉnh 

thoảng ngƣời Bugi tấn công Kedah, khu 

vực về danh nghĩa thuộc về ngƣời Siam. 

Tuy nhiên, đặc biệt vào giữa thế kỷ thứ 

XVIII, ngƣời Siam chủ yếu chú tâm tới 

mâu thuẫn với ngƣời Burma. Vậy nên 

dù Kedah do ngƣời Siam quản lý, ngƣời 

Bugi vẫn có thể can thiệp đƣợc. Diễn 

biến này cũng tƣơng tự với Perak, nằm 

ở bờ biển phía Tây và bị kẹp giữa ngƣời 

Bugi ở Selangor và ngƣời Siam ủng hộ 

Kedah ở phía Bắc, và chúng ta cũng đã 

thấy cách ngƣời Perak chịu những áp 

lực thƣờng xuyên đến từ ngƣời Bugi. 

Có một nhóm ngƣời khác cũng ở bờ 

phía Tây là Minangkabau ở vùng đất 

liền của Malacca – Naning, Sungei 

Ujong và Rembau. Những nhóm ngƣời 

Minangkabau đến từ Sumatra này đã 

sống ở những khu vực này kể từ thời 

quốc vƣơng Malacca khi họ xuất xứ từ 

ngƣời Hindu. Sau đó họ trở thành những 

ngƣời theo đạo Hồi giáo và các bộ tộc 

đa sắc giáo của họ đã sống ở một số khu 

vực nhỏ và nguyện trung thành với 

Johore. Chúng ta cũng đã thấy cách 

ngƣời Hà Lan ở Mallaca đã chinh phục 



related tribes had stablished small 

states which owed allegiance to the 

Sultan of Johore. Ve have seen how 

the Dutch in Malacca had taken over 

the state of Janing but the others 

continued in allegiance to Johore. As a 

result, firing the eighteenth century 

they too came under Bugis domination 

M also suffered periodic interference. 

The defeat of the Bugis in the 74
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mid-1780‘s brought relief to the 

Minangkabau as to the other Mala 

states and enabled these small tribal 

units to come together to form loose 

coalition—the forerunner of the Negri 

Sembilan—and becau of the decline of 

Johore this confederacy was 

established outside Johore‘s direct 

control. 

KELANTAN, TRENGGANU AND 

PAHANG 

On the east coast of Malaya the 

northern sultanates of Kelanta and 

Trengganu were in the same relation 

to Siam as was Kedah; tha is, the 

rulers acknowledged Siamese 

suzerainty by sending the anmu 

tributes of the bunga emas (the golden 

flowers). This was a symbdi gift of 

flowers made of gold signifying the 

allegiance of the donoi although the 

states themselves were usually left to 

look after their ow affairs with very 

little supervision from Siam. Munshi 

Abdullah account of .his voyage to 

Kelantan gives an early nineteenth-

centui account of these two states, 

which, because of limited trading oppc 

tunities, were little visited by 

foreigners. It is not untrue to say thi 

the east-coast states played little part 

in Malayan history at this tiro This 

was because they were nominally 

vùng đất Naning, nhƣng những vùng 

còn lại vẫn tiếp tục trung thành với 

Johore. Kết quả là trong suốt thế kỷ thứ 

XVIII, họ cũng bị ngƣời Bugi thống trị 

và cũng thƣờng xuyên bị quấy rầy. Việc 

ngƣời Bugi bị đánh bại vào giữa thập 

niên 1780 đã giải phóng Minangkabau 

cũng nhƣ các khu vực Malay khác, và 

tạo điều kiện cho các bộ tộc nhỏ này 

liên kết tạo thành một liên minh lỏng 

lẻo - tiền thân của Negri Sembilan – và 

chính vì sự suy yếu của Johore đã dẫn 

tời sự ra đời của liên minh này nằm 

ngoài tầm kiểm soát của Johore. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KELANTAN, TRENGGANU VÀ 

PAHANG 

Ở bờ Tây Malacca các vùng đất phía 

Bắc của Kelantan và Trengganu cũng 

phụ thuộc ngƣời Siam nhƣ Kedah, thể 

hiện bằng việc thủ lĩnh các khu vực này 

cống nạp thƣờng niên cho ngƣời Siam 

các bunga ema (hoa bằng vàng). Món 

quà này là hoa mang tính tƣợng trƣng 

bằng vàng cho thấy sự trung thành của 

nƣớc cống nạp mặc dù các khu vực này 

thƣờng bị bỏ mặc tự quản lý và ít đƣợc  

Siam giảm sát.  

 

Munshi Abdullah đã mô tả chuyến viễn 

du của mình tới Kelantan đã tạo điều 

kiện giao thƣơng vào đầu thế kỷ XIX 

với 2 khu vực này, đa phần vì các cơ hội 

giao thƣơng giới hạn nên ít đƣợc ngƣời 

nƣớc ngoài ghé thăm. Cũng không sai 

khi khẳng định rằng các khu vực bờ Tây 

không đóng vai trò quan trọng trong lịch 

sử Malay giai đoạn này. Nguyên nhân 

của việc này là do các khu vực này về 



under Siamese suzerainty bt was also 

because there was no trading reason 

why there should I much contact with 

the other states of the Peninsula. 

 

 

The other east-coast state, Pahang, 

was still part of the Johoi Empire but 

was the one part which was not 

dominated by the Bugi It gradually 

became the most independent of the 

territories subjet to the Bugis under-

King and as the eighteenth century 

progress Pahang‘s ties with Riau 

became less and less strong. Pahang 

itself w controlled by the Johore 

Bendahara and his family, and the 

Bendahai himself became virtually an 

independent ruler in the nineteeni 

century when the Johore Empire 

finally disappeared. 
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THE ESTABLISHMENT OF I THE 

STRAITS SETTLEMENTS 

IC 

.... 

b: political situation in the Malay 

Peninsula in the last fifteen Ears of the 

eighteenth century, as we have seen, 

was one of disunity. U the north there 

danh nghĩa phụ thuộc vào ngƣời Siam 

nhƣng cũng có thể giải thích do họ 

không có cơ hội giao thƣơng để liên hệ 

nhiều với các vùng miền khác của Bán 

đảo. 

 

Một khu vực ở bờ Tây khác, Pahang, 

vẫn là một phần của đế chế Johore, 

nhƣng đã không bị ngƣời Bugi chiếm 

đóng. Dần dần nơi đây trở thành lãnh 

thổ độc lập nhất khỏi tiểu vƣơng của 

Bugi và vào thế kỷ thứ XVIII, dần dần 

mối liên hệ giữa Pahang với Riau ngày 

càng lỏng lẻo. Pahang do Johore 

Bendahara và gia đình của ông cai trị, 

và vào thể kỷ thứ XIX, Bendahara gần 

nhƣ là vị thủ lĩnh độc lập trong khi đế 

chế Johore hoàn toàn biến mất. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7 – SỰ HÌNH THÀNH CÁC THUỘC 

ĐỊA EO BIỂN 

 

 

Nhƣ chúng ta đã thấy, Bán đảo Malay 

vào khoảng 15 năm cuối thế kỷ thứ  

XVIII không thống nhất về mặt chính 

trị. Ở phía Bắc ngƣời Siam cai trị lỏng 



was fairly loose Siamese control over 

the states of kdah, Kelantan and 

Trengganu, although after the end of 

the Thai- iirmese wars in the 1770‘s 

this control began to be tightened up. 

Sbrther southwards Perak was an 

independent state suffering some- 

jmes from attacks from Kedah and 

sometimes from interference by lie 

Bugis in Selangor. Selangor itself was 

an independent Bugis state, further 

southwards again there were the 

Minangkabau states forming loose 

confederation, and at this period, 

virtually independent of each feer and 

of Johore. Malacca was still held by 

the Dutch, and Pahang, lough part of 

the Johore Empire, was controlled by 

the Benda- ara (of Johore) and was 

rapidly becoming independent of the 

Johore jiltan‘s control. The Sultan of 

Johore also had little influence over ie 

mainland area of Johore itself which, 

because he was living on the land of 

Riau, was dominated by another major 

official, the Temeng- png. Finally in 

Riau itself the Sultan was under 

pressure on one side pom the Dutch 

and on the other side from the Bugis. 

We have seen pat the strength of both 

the Bugis and Johore had declined in 

relation to that of the Dutch in the 

latter years of the century. But the 

Dutch past India Company itself also 

presented a false appearance of 

jtrength. Because of the payment of 

high dividends in Holland and Iccause 

of corruption amongst its employees 

in the East, the Dutch fompany‘s 

financial position had become very 

weak. Dutch involve¬ment in the 

European wars of the 1790‘s proved to 

be the final disaster jcid the bankrupt 

Company came to an end in 1799. 

lẻo các khu vực Kedah, Kelantan và 

Trengganu, mặc dù sau chiến tranh giữa 

ngƣời Thái – Burma vào thập niên 

1770, sự cai trị này trở nên chặt chẽ 

hơn. Xuống phía Nam một chút thì 

Perak là khu vực khá độc lập, thỉnh 

thoảng bị tấn công bởi Kedah và bị 

ngƣời Bugi ở Selangor can thiệp. 

Selangor là vùng đất độc lập của ngƣời 

Bugi. Tiếp tục xuôi xuống phía Nam, 

các khu vực ở Minangkabau cùng nhau 

tạo một liên minh chƣa chặt chẽ, và lúc 

này gần nhƣ tự hoạt động độc lập với 

nhau và độc lập với Johore. Malacca 

vẫn do ngƣời Hà Lan quản lý, và 

Pahang, tuy là 1 phần của đế chế 

Johore, đã bị cai trị bởi Bendahara (của 

Johore) và sau đó nhanh chóng độc lập 

khỏi sự cai quản của quốc vƣơng 

Johore. Quốc vƣơng Johore cũng ít ảnh 

hƣởng đƣợc đến vùng đất liền của 

Johore, vì ông sống ở đảo của Riau, và 

vùng đất này thực tế lại bị ảnh hƣởng 

bởi một thế lực lớn hơn, Temenggong. 

Cuối cùng vị quốc vƣơng tại Riau chịu 

sức ép từ cả ngƣời Bugi và ngƣời Hà 

Lan. Chúng ta cũng đã thấy sự suy yếu 

thế lực của ngƣời Bugi và Johore so với 

ngƣời Hà Lan vào những năm cuối của 

thế kỷ trƣớc.  

 

 

Nhƣng Công ty Đông Ấn của Hà Lan 

chƣa hẳn là một biểu trƣng quyền lực. 

Việc phải chia cổ tức lớn tại Hà Lan và 

tình trạng nhũng nhiễu của các nhân 

viên ở khu vực phía Đông khiến cho vị 

thế tài chính của Công ty Hà Lan trở 

nên suy yếu. Việc Hà Lan dính vào 

chiến tranh châu Âu những năm 1790 

chính là thảm họa cuối cùng và Công ty 

đã bị phá sản vào năm 1799. 

 

 



; This picture of a divided Peninsula 

was to be further complicated  

in the i78o‘s by the fact that the 

British East India Company bega to 

take an interest again in the Malayan 

Archipelago. 

 

The reader will remember that at the 

beginning of the seventeen! century 

both the English and the Dutch had 

begun trading ventun to Asia in order 

to obtain some share of the spice trade. 

It will alsol remembered that Drake‘s 

circumnavigation of the world in 

1577-9 shown that Portuguese and 

Spanish control could be breached. As 

result of this knowledge the Dutch and 

the English had sent tradin ships to 

Asia and had established trading 

centres in the Malaya Archipelago. Of 

the two, the Dutch had been much the 

more successfi for they had 

concentrated their resources in one 

company in order t eliminate rivalry 

amongst themselves and had obtained 

governmei support. The English had 

been much less well organized and 

evei tually had found Dutch 

competition too much for them in 

South-Ea Asia. The English East India 

Company did not disappear entirel 

from South-East Asia after Amboina 

in 1623 as there was a tradin post at 

Mantan until 1682. But thenceforth it 

concentrated on Indi itself, the latter‘s 

trade being considered more important 

than spico The East India Company 

had an official monopoly of trade 

betwea England and the East, while 

trading ventures to South-East Asia 

fron India were mainly in the hands of 

such free-lance merchants base in 

India itself as Alexander Hamilton, the 

English captain, mentione on page 66. 

Bức tranh về một Bán đảo bị chia cắt 

còn trở nên phức tạp hơn vào những 

năm 1780 khi công ty Đông Ấn của 

Anh bắt đầu chú ý đến Quần đảo 

Malaysia 

Phần của bạn Khánh 

 

Nhƣ các bạn đã biết vào đầu thế kỷ 17 

cả ngƣời Anh và ngƣời Hà Lan đã bắt 

đầu các hoạt động thƣơng mại tại Châu 

Á nhằm thu đƣợc thị phần của thị 

trƣờng mua bán hƣơng liệu. Và các bạn 

cũng cần nhớ rằng chuyến đi biển vòng 

quanh thế giới của Drake vào giai đoạn 

1577 – 1579 đã cho thấy sự kiểm soát 

của ngƣời Bồ Đào Nha và ngƣời Tây 

Ban Nha có thể bị phá vỡ. Hệ quả của 

những hiểu biết này là việc ngƣời Hà 

Lan và ngƣời Anh đã cử các thƣơng 

thuyền tới Châu Á và lập nên các trung 

tâm thƣơng mại tại Quần đảo Malaya. 

Trong hai nƣớc, Hà Lan đã thành công 

hơn nhiều vì họ đã tập trung nguồn lực 

của họ trong một công ty để loại bỏ các 

đối thủ cạnh tranh trong nội bộ ngƣời 

Hà Lan và nhận đƣợc sự trợ giúp của 

chính phủ. Cách thức tổ chức của ngƣời 

Anh kém hơn nhiều và sau cùng họ 

không thể cạnh tranh với ngƣời Hà Lan 

tại Đông Nam Á. Công Ty Đông Ấn 

Anh không biến mất hoàn toàn khỏi 

Đông Nam Á sau khi rút khỏi Amboina 

vào năm 1623 vì tại Mantan vẫn có một 

trạm thông thƣơng cho đến năm 1682.  

Nhƣng từ thời điểm đó Công Ty Đông 

Ấn đã tập trung vào Ấn Độ, và việc mua 

bán này đƣợc coi trọng hơn mua bán 

hƣơng liệu. Công Ty Đông Ấn đã độc 

quyền chính thức về thƣơng mại giữa 

Anh quốc và phía Đông, trong khi các 

hoạt động thƣơng mại tới Đông Nam Á 

từ Ấn Độ vẫn chủ yếu do các thƣơng 

nhân tự do có trụ sở tại Ấn Độ nắm giữ, 

nhƣ Alexander Hamilton, một thuyền 



 

 

BRITISH TRADING INTERESTS IN 

EASTERN ASIA 

English concentration in India 

eventually proved most fruitful an as a 

result of the Seven Years‘ War against 

her main rival, Frana England had, by 

1763, become the dominant European 

trading pom in the subcontinent. A 

number of factors now caused the East 

Indi Company to show a new interest 

in South-East Asia. As has been sai 

the activities of the East India 

Company were largely concentraH on 

trade between Britain and India, with 

the trade in the areai South-East Asia 

(called ‗the country trade‘) in the 

hands of merchan who were not 

directly associated with the Company 

but who neverth less had their 

headquarters in India. However, there 

was one very viti trading contract 

which was firmly in the hands of the 

East Ini Company, and that was the 

trade with China or more particular the 

export of tea from China to Europe. 

 

The China trade came to be of very 

great- importance to the El India 

Company during rhe second half of 

the eighteenth century to it was also of 

very great importance to Britain itself. 

It was important in two ways: first for 

the profit it brought the Company and 

second for the revenue it brought the 

British Government by means of the 

tax on tea imports. In 1785, over 

sixteen million pounds weight of tea 

was imported into Britain; in 1787, 

over twenty million pounds; between 

1823 and 1833 the tea imports 

averaged thirty million pounds a year. 

The British Government obtained a 

trƣởng ngƣời Anh, đƣợc đề cập tại trang 

66.  

SỰ QUAN TÂM CỦA NGƢỜI ANH 

ĐẾN THƢƠNG MẠI TẠI ĐÔNG Á 

Sự tập trung của ngƣời Anh vào Ấn Độ 

cuối cùng cũng đem lại thành quả và 

sau Chiến Tranh 7 Năm với đối thủ 

cạnh tranh chính – nƣớc Pháp – nƣớc 

Anh, vào năm 1763,  đã trở thành quyền 

lực thƣơng mại thống trị của Châu Âu 

tại tiểu lục địa. Một vài yếu tố đã khiến 

Công Ty Đông Ấn chú ý tới Đông Nam 

Á. Nhƣ đã nói, các hoạt động của Công 

Ty Đông Ấn phần lớn tập trung vào 

quan hệ thƣơng mại giữa nƣớc Anh và 

Ấn Độ, còn thƣơng mại trong khu vực 

Đông Nam Á (đƣợc gọi là ―thƣơng mại 

quốc gia‖) nằm trong tay của các 

thƣơng nhân không liên kết trực tiếp với 

Công ty nhƣng có trụ sở tại Ấn Độ. Tuy 

nhiên, Công Ty Đông Ấn nắm trong tay 

một hợp đồng thƣơng mại quan trọng 

với Trung Quốc hay cụ thể hơn là việc 

xuất khẩu trà từ Trung Quốc tới Châu 

Âu.  

 

 

 

Quan hệ thƣơng mại với Trung Quốc đã 

trở nên rất quan trọng với Công Ty 

Đông Ấn trong nửa cuối của thế kỷ 16, 

cũng nhƣ rất quan trọng đối với nƣớc 

Anh. Điều này quan trọng theo 2 hƣớng: 

thứ nhất là lợi nhuận nó đem lại cho 

Công Ty và thứ hai là khoản thu nó đem 

lại cho Chính Phủ Anh từ thuế nhập 

khẩu trà. Vào năm 1785, nƣớc Anh đã 

nhập khẩu hơn 454.000 kg trà; vào năm 

1787 là hơn 567.000 kg trà; vào khoảng 

1823 – 1833 lƣợng trà nhập khẩu trung 

bình khoảng 850.000 kg một năm. 

Chính Phủ Anh đã thu đƣợc một khoản 

thu lớn từ quan hệ mậu dịch này và do 

đó quan hệ thƣơng mại với Trung Quốc 



great deal of revenue from this trade 

and therefore the China trade came to 

be an extremely important and 

valuable part of Britain‘s interests in 

the East. It was idso a temptation to 

enemies of England. 

: As has been mentioned, after 1763 

Britain eliminated her main Iival, 

France, from the Indian subcontinent. 

However, it was likely bat the French 

would in the future try to recover the 

position which hey had lost, or at least 

make an attempt to damage Britain‘s 

interests, icalizing where Britain‘s 

potential weakness lay, the East India 

lompany, as early as 1763, gave 

instructions to look for a suitable site 

)r a port on the eastern side of the Bay 

of Bengal. 

During the north-eastern monsoon, 

from October to May, the astern coast 

of India suffers from storms in much 

the same way as oes the east coast of 

Malaya. Today Malayan fishermen 

cannot put lo sea during the monsoon 

period, and similarly during the days 

of failing ships, the British navy could 

not easily put to sea from the port ‗of 

Madras at that time of year. The 

nearest sheltered port which the fnavy 

could use while protecting British 

merchant ships on the eastern [route 

was Bombay. But this was too far 

away to be of much use for ^defensive 

purposes in the Bay of Bengal. 

Therefore any unfriendly |>ower 

which had a port on the eastern side of 

the Bay of Bengal £ould cause havoc 

among British ships during the months 

of the piorth-east monsoon. From 

1763 to 1783 the British looked at 

many possible places for a port: 

Acheh, Ujang Salang, the Nicobar 

Islands, pe Andaman Islands, and 

đã trở nên cực kỳ quan trọng và là một 

phần quan trọng khiến nƣớc Anh chú ý 

tới phía Đông. Đây cũng là một cám dỗ 

đối với những kẻ thù của nƣớc Anh.  

 

 

Nhƣ đã đề cập, sau năm 1763 nƣớc Anh 

loại bỏ đối thủ cạnh tranh chính, nƣớc 

Pháp, khỏi tiểu lục địa Ấn Độ. Tuy 

nhiên, có vẻ nhƣ trong tƣơng lai ngƣời 

Pháp mong muốn khôi phục vị thế mà 

họ đã mất, hay ít nhất có chủ đích phá 

hoại lợi ích của nƣớc Anh. Nhận ra 

những điểm yếu tiềm tàng của nƣớc 

Anh, Công Ty Đông Ấn, vào năm 1763, 

đã chỉ đạo việc tìm kiếm một địa điểm 

phù hợp cho một khu cảng tại phía đông 

Vịnh Bengal.  

 

Vào mùa mƣa đông bắc (Ấn Độ có hai 

mùa mƣa là mùa mƣa Tây Nam và 

Đông Bắc), từ tháng 10 đến tháng 5, eo 

biển phía đông của Ấn Độ phải hứng 

chịu nhiều cơn bão nhƣ eo biển phía 

đông của Malaya. Lúc đó các ngƣ dân 

Malaya không thể ra biển vào mùa mƣa, 

và tƣơng tự vào những ngày ra khơi, hải 

quân Anh quốc cũng không thể dễ dàng 

ra biển từ cảng Madras vào thời gian 

này trong năm. Hải cảng gần nhất mà 

hải quân có thể sử dụng để bảo vệ các 

thƣơng thuyền nƣớc Anh trên chặng 

đƣờng biển phía đông là Bombay. 

Nhƣng cảng này quá xa để sử dụng cho 

mục đích phòng thủ tại Vịnh Bengal. Vì 

vậy, bất kỳ thế lực thù địch nào có cảng 

tại phía đông của Vịnh Bengal cũng có 

thể gây thiệt hại cho các tàu Anh vào 

các tháng mùa mƣa đông bắc. Từ năm 

1763 đến năm 1783, ngƣời Anh đã xem 

xét xây dựng cảng biển tại nhiều địa 

điểm: Acheh, Ujang Salang, Đảo 

Nicobar, Đảo Andaman, và Kedah. 

Nhƣng không có cảng nào đƣợc xây 



Kedah. But nothing was established 

until |ifter the set-backs which the 

British suffered during the War of 

Itanerican Independence. In this war 

the Americans were helped by pie 

French and the Dutch and a French 

fleet commanded by an Idmiral named 

Suffren caused much damage to 

British shipping in |he East during 

1782 and 1783. The Dutch ports in the 

East Indies |now Indonesia) also were 

closed to the British in time of war, 

and jhus the need for a British port on 

the sea route to China became even 

bore urgent. It was necessary to have a 

port usable during the north- last 

monsoon, a port which could be used 

to protect the China trade 78 The 

Making of Modern Malaya 

especially from Britain‘s European 

rivals. These factors primaril affected 

the East India Company and the 

British Government. Bi one other 

factor appealed to the British and 

Indian merchants engaj ed in the 

‗country trade‘; they also would have 

much to gain from tlj establishment of 

a British-controlled port which would 

enable the! to breach the Dutch 

monopoly in the South-East Asian 

trade. 

 

 

These then are the three main reasons 

for the renewal of Britij interest in 

South-East Asia: first, the need for a 

naval base on ti sheltered side of the 

Bay of Bengal; second, the need for a 

port aloe the China trade route which 

could be used for refitting, revictuallii 

and protecting the merchant ships; and 

third the need for a port whi< could be 

used by British and Indian merchants 

trying to expand thi trade in the 

dựng cho đến sau khi ngƣời Anh phải 

hứng chịu thất bại trong Cuộc Chiến 

Tranh Giành Độc Lập Của Hoa Kỳ. 

Trong cuộc chiến này, ngƣời Mỹ đã 

đƣợc trợ giúp bởi ngƣời Pháp và ngƣời 

Hà Lan, và một hạm đội Pháp chỉ huy 

bởi Đô đốc Suffren đã gây thiệt hại 

nặng nề cho các tàu Anh ở phía Đông 

trong giai đoạn 1782 và 1783. Ba hải 

cảng của Hà Lan tại vùng biển Đông Ấn 

(nay là Indonesia) cũng đã bế quan đối 

với ngƣời Anh trong khoảng thời gian 

chiến tranh, và do đó nhu cầu xây dựng 

một hải cảng của Anh tại tuyến đƣờng 

biển phía đông tới Trung Quốc đã trở 

nên khẩn thiết hơn. Cần thiết phải có 

một hải cảng sử dụng đƣợc vào mùa 

mƣa đông bắc, một hải cảng có thể đƣợc 

sử dụng để bảo vệ thƣơng mại với 

Trung Quốc đặc biệt là bảo vệ khỏi các 

đối thủ cạnh tranh của Anh quốc tại 

Châu Âu. Các yếu tố này chủ yếu tác 

động đến Công Ty Đông Ấn và Chính 

Phủ Anh. Nhƣng một yếu tố khác hấp 

dẫn các thƣơng nhân ngƣời Anh và Ấn 

Độ hoạt động ―thƣơng mại quốc gia‖ là: 

họ cũng thu đƣợc nhiều lợi ích từ việc 

thành lập một hải cảng đƣợc cai trị bởi 

ngƣời Anh  vì việc này sẽ loại bỏ sự độc 

quyền của ngƣời Hà Lan trong thƣơng 

mại tại Đông Nam Á.  

 

 

Có ba nguyên nhân chính khiến ngƣời 

Anh tái chú ý đến Đông Nam Á: thứ 

nhất, nhu cầu có một căn cứ hải quân tại 

bên an toàn của Vịnh Bengal; thứ hai, 

nhu cầu có một hải cảng dọc theo tuyến 

đƣờng thƣơng mại Trung Quốc có thể 

sử dụng để sửa chữa, cung ứng hậu cần 

và bảo vệ cho các thƣơng thuyền; và thứ 

ba là nhu cầu có một hải cảng mà 

thƣơng nhân ngƣời Anh và Ấn Độ có 

thể sử dụng để mở rộng buôn bán tại 



Malayan Archipelago and more 

particularly to obtain t for the East 

India Company to sell to China. The 

Straits Settlemeq later became the 

headquarters for these merchants. The 

primaj impulse to establish a British 

port, then, was strategic and protect^ 

but the fact that Penang was 

eventually chosen in 1786 was 

econoni because it was largely due to 

a ‗country trading captain‘, Fran< 

Light, who had found an owner 

willing to sell a possible site. 

 

Francis Light had earlier considered 

the establishment of a p<? in the 

region of Kedah, a state which he 

knew quite well and wi| whose ruler 

he was on friendly terms. In 1771 

Light had written ! the East India 

Company about the question of 

obtaining a trading si in the area of the 

Malacca Straits. He said that the 

Sultan of Keda was willing to approve 

the establishment of a post in Kedah 

but thi in return the Sultan wanted 

help against the Bugis from Selangor 

wh as we have learned, were causing 

trouble in his state. We have all seen 

that Kedah was in fact under the 

general influence of Sian whose King 

was the Sultan‘s overlord, but at this 

time Siam was i the process of 

recovering from the disastrous 

Burmese wars and ha little help to 

spare for Kedah. It was in such 

circumstances that ti Sultan looked for 

other sources of assistance. But in the 

1770‘s the Ea India Company showed 

little or no interest in Light‘s proposal, 

an the matter seemed to have been 

forgotten. 

 

THE ESTABLISHMENT OF 

Quần Đảo Malaya và cụ thể hơn là thu 

xxx cho Công Ty Đông Ấn để bán cho 

Trung Quốc. Sau đó, khu thuộc địa eo 

biển Malacca trở thành trụ sở chính của 

những thƣơng nhân này. Nguyên nhân 

chính thúc đẩy việc thành lập một hải 

cảng Anh quốc khi đó mang tính chiến 

lƣợc và phòng ngừa nhƣng việc Penang 

cuối cùng đƣợc lựa chọn vào năm 1786 

là bởi lý do kinh tế bởi lẽ việc này đƣợc 

quyết định chủ yếu bởi một ―thuyền 

trƣởng thƣơng mại quốc gia‖, Francis 

Light,  ngƣời đã tìm ra ngƣời chủ sẵn 

sàng bán một địa điểm có thể xây cảng.  

Francis Light đã sớm xem xét tới việc 

xây dựng một trạm thông thƣơng tại 

vùng Kedah, một quốc gia mà ông ta 

biết khá rõ và có quan hệ thân thiết với 

những ngƣời cai trị. Vào năm 1771 

Light đã viết thƣ hỏi ý kiến Công Ty 

Đông Ấn về việc lập một địa điểm 

thƣơng mại tại khu vực Eo Biển 

Malacca. Ông ta nói rằng Quốc Vƣơng 

của Kedah đã đồng ý cho xây dựng một 

trạm thông thƣơng tại Kedah nhƣng 

ngƣợc lại vị Quốc Vƣơng này muốn 

đƣợc trợ giúp trong việc chống lại ngƣời 

Bugis từ Selangor, mà nhƣ chúng ta đã 

biết đây là những kẻ đang gây rắc rối 

cho quốc gia của ông ta. Chúng ta cũng 

đã biết rằng Kedah thực tế chịu ảnh 

hƣởng của nƣớc Xiêm, và Vua của nƣớc 

Xiêm có địa vị cao hơn Quốc Vƣơng 

của Kedah. Nhƣng vào thời điểm đó 

nƣớc Xiêm đang trong quá trình hồi 

phục từ các cuộc chiến tranh Miến Điện 

thảm khốc và không thể giúp đỡ Kedah. 

Trong tình cảnh nhƣ vậy, Quốc Vƣơng 

đã tìm kiếm sự hỗ trợ từ nơi khác. 

Nhƣng vào những năm 1770, Công Ty 

Đông Ấn không hứng thú hay rất ít quan 

tâm đến lời đề nghị của Light, và vấn đề 

này dƣờng nhƣ đã rơi vào quên lãng.  

SỰ THÀNH LẬP PENANG 



PENANG 

Interest in a base on the eastern side of 

the Bay of Bengal revive after the 

reverses suffered by the British during 

the War of America Independence. 

Light‘s earlier suggestion was 

remembered, and tl country merchants 

who wanted to challenge the Dutch 

monopoly! 

The Establishment of the Straits 

Settlements 79 

She spice trade were enthusiastic 

supporters. This was in 1785, and 

flight himself was sent to open 

negotiations with the Sultan of Kedah, 

[he Sultan eventually agreed by letter 

to allow the East India jiompany to 

establish a settlement on the island of 

Penang which lie Company preferred 

to the mainland because it seemed 

easier to jontrol. The conditions 

stipulated by the Sultan included 

compensa- ion for Kedah‘s loss of 

trade, i.e., an annual payment of 

$30,000 and rotection against the 

Sultan‘s enemies both from the 

interior and jpm the sea. The former 

referred to Siam, for the Sultan viewed 

with farm the renewed interest of the 

Siamese Government in his state, 

pbere was little doubt that the Sultan 

would only be willing to cede mang if 

he received protection in exchange, 

and Light had pointed us out to the 

authorities in India. Light therefore 

communicated the titan‘s conditions to 

his superiors who in the meanwhile 

authorized im to go ahead with the 

establishment of the settlement and 

^pointed him as the first 

Superintendent. 

|Light landed on Pulau Pinang in July 

1786, and on August nth Icially took 

possession of the island, which was 

 

Mối quan tâm về một căn cứ tại phía 

đông Vịnh Bengal đã đƣợc phục hồi sau 

khi ngƣời Anh hứng chịu thất bại trong 

Cuộc Chiến Tranh Giành Độc Lập của 

Hoa Kỳ. Các đề xuất ban đầu của Light 

đƣợc nhớ đến và các thƣơng nhân quốc 

gia muốn thách thức sự độc quyền của 

ngƣời Hà Lan trong buôn bán hƣơng 

liệu là những ngƣời ủng hộ nhiệt tình 

cho đề xuất này. Vào năm 1785, chính 

Light đƣợc cử đi đàm phán với Quốc 

Vƣơng của Kedah. Vị Quốc Vƣơng sau 

cùng đồng ý bằng văn kiện cho phép 

Công Ty Đông Ấn thành lập một khu 

thuộc địa trên đảo Penang mà Công Ty 

thích hơn so với đất liền vì nó có vẻ dễ 

kiểm soát hơn. Các điều kiện mà Quốc 

Vƣơng đƣa ra bao gồm tiền bồi thƣờng 

tổn thất thƣơng mại đối với Kedah, tức 

là, một khoản tiền 30.000$ hàng năm và 

bảo hộ chống lại kẻ thù của Quốc 

Vƣơng trên đất liền và ngoài biển. Kẻ 

thù trên đất liền ở đây là nƣớc Xiêm, vì 

Quốc Vƣơng lo ngại về việc Chính Phủ 

Xiêm tiếp tục có hứng thú với quốc gia 

của ông ta. Có một chút nghi ngờ rằng 

vị Quốc Vƣơng sẽ chỉ đồng ý nhƣợng 

lại Penang nếu ông ta nhận đƣợc sự bảo 

hộ, và Light đã chỉ ra điều này cho 

chính quyền Ấn Độ. Light theo đó 

truyền đạt lại các điều kiện của Quốc 

Vƣơng cho cấp trên, và đƣợc cấp trên 

ủy quyền tiến hành việc thành lập khu 

thuộc địa và bổ nhiệm ông ta là Tổng 

Giám Sát đầu tiên.  

 

 

 

 

 

Light đặt chân đến Pulau Pinang vào 

Tháng 7/1786, và vào ngày 11/8 thay 

mặt Chính Phủ Anh chính thức chiếm 



largely uninhabited, [the name of the 

British Government. He also renamed 

it Prince of feles Island, a name which 

never became very popular. As yet no 

ficial treaty had been signed between 

the Company and Kedah, and i it 

turned out, Light had obtained 

possession of the island under hat 

amounted to false pretences. He had 

virtually promised to assist he Sultan 

of Kedah against Siam but in so doing 

had made a commit- jent which the 

Company was unwilling to honour: 

‗the Governor- eneral in Council has 

already decided against any measures 

that lay involve the Company in 

military operations against any of the 

intern princes‘ (Letter of January 

1788). 

gThe Sultan now determined to regain 

possession of the island for it lemed 

that he had given it away without 

receiving what he wanted I return, and 

in 1791 he assembled a fleet in the 

Prai River for the prpose of attacking 

Penang. Light took the initiative 

instead and [Racked the Sultan‘s fleet 

before it had time to begin the 

offensive, the forces assembled by the 

Sultan of Kedah were defeated and the 

jew settlement was preserved, for the 

Sultan made no further attempt tt 

armed attack. Realizing that it was too 

late to retake Penang, the jiiltan agreed 

to sign a definite treaty with the 

Company later the jjme year (1791). 

By this treaty the Company agreed to 

pay the Sultan fee sum of $6,000 per 

year, but there was no mention of 

providing him pth protection against 

Siam. 

L,ight could now turn his attention to 

the consolidation of the new 

settlement. Already in 1788 he had 

hữu hòn đảo – phần lớn là không ngƣời 

ở. Ông ta cũng đổi tên hòn đảo thành 

Đảo Hoàng Tử Xứ Wales, một cái tên 

chƣa bao giờ trở nên quá nổi tiếng. Vì 

không có bất kỳ hiệp định chính thức 

nào đƣợc ký kết giữa Công Ty và 

Kedah, Light đã chiếm đƣợc quyền 

kiểm soát hòn đảo một cách chẳng khác 

gì lừa đảo. Ông ta đã chính thức cam kết 

trợ giúp Quốc Vƣơng của Kedah trong 

việc chống lại nƣớc Xiêm, nhƣng cam 

kết này không đƣợc Công Ty sẵn lòng 

thực hiện: ―Toàn Quyền trong Hội Đồng 

đã quyết định không sử dụng bất kỳ 

phƣơng thức nào khiến Công Ty phải 

tham gia các hoạt động quân sự chống 

lại bất kỳ vị vua phía đông nào‖ (Lá thƣ 

vào tháng 1/1788). 

 

Quốc Vƣơng sau đó quyết định thu lại 

quyền chiếm hữu hòn đảo vì có vẻ nhƣ 

ông ta đã nhƣợng lại nó mà không thu 

lại đƣợc thứ ông ta muốn, và vào năm 

1791 ông ta đã tập hợp một hạm đội 

trên Sông Prai để tiến đánh Penang. 

Light đã tấn công hạm đội của Quốc 

Vƣơng trƣớc khi hạm đội này tấn công. 

Đội quân do Quốc Vƣơng của Kedah 

tập hợp đã bị đánh bại và khu thuộc địa 

mới đƣợc bảo toàn do Quốc Vƣơng đã 

không có thêm bất kỳ động thái tấn 

công vũ trang nào. Nhận ra rằng đã quá 

muộn để lấy lại đƣợc Penang, Quốc 

Vƣơng đồng ý ký kết một hiệp định có 

thời hạn với Công Ty vào cùng năm 

(1791).Thông qua hiệp định này Công 

Ty đồng ý trả cho Quốc Vƣơng khoản 

tiền 6.000$ hàng năm, nhƣng không đề 

cập đến việc bảo hộ ông ta chống lại 

nƣớc Xiêm.  

 

Light khi đó đã có thể chuyển sự chú ý 

đến việc củng cố thuộc địa mới. Cũng 

vào năm 1788 ông ta đã khẳng định với 



written to the Governor-General in 

India stating that the only way Penang 

could prosper was by being made a 

free port. Only in this way, he said, 

could trade be attracted away from the 

Dutch. This recommendation of Light 

was followed Between 1788 and 1801 

Penang was a free port, and its success 

in building up trade by this means 

provided the model which Raffles wai 

later to follow in Singapore. By 1794 

when he died Light had establish¬ed 

the settlement of Penang on firm 

foundations, and its population had 

increased to 8,000, a population 

composed of many immigrant races: 

Chinese, Indians and Bugis amongst 

others. There is no doubt that the free-

port facilities which Penang offered 

led to this rapid increase in population, 

but the administration of the 

Settlement on the other hand did not 

obtain enough revenue to pay for its 

expense It had to receive financial 

assistance from the Government of 

India to meet the annual deficit. 

Despite the fact that the value of 

Penang‘s trade was $1 l/i million, the 

annual deficit on administration was 

aboul $700,000 per year. The 

government received little direct 

benefit from trade, and the officials 

themselves were more interested in 

trade than administration. Land was 

sold so cheaply that it was practically 

given away and there was little official 

development of the island. It was 

therefore decided in 1801 to introduce 

a 5 per cent tax on imports and exports 

to raise revenue and to reduce the 

expense of Penang to the Indian 

government. Penang was thenceforth 

no longer a free port. 

In the early days of the new 

Toàn Quyền tại Ấn Độ rằng cách duy 

nhất giúp Penang có thể phát triển thịnh 

vƣợng là xây một cảng biển tự do. Ông 

ta cho rằng chỉ bằng cách này thì 

thƣơng nghiệp mới có thể thoát khỏi tay 

ngƣời Hà Lan. Đề xuất này của Light đã 

đƣợc xem xét. Vào giai đoạn 1788-

1801, Penang là một cảng tự do, và 

thành công của nó trong việc phát triển 

thƣơng nghiệp bằng việc xây dựng cảng 

biển đã đƣa ra một hình mẫu mà sau đó 

Raffles áp dụng tại Singapore. Cho đến 

năm 1794 khi mất đi, Light đã xây 

những nền móng vững chắc cho khu 

thuộc địa Penang, và dân số đã đạt đến 

8.000 ngƣời, bao gồm rất nhiều chủng 

tộc nhập cƣ: ngƣời Hoa, ngƣời Ấn Độ 

và ngƣời Bugis. Hiển nhiên khu cảng 

biển tự do của Penang đã góp phần dẫn 

đến sự gia tăng dân số nhanh chóng này, 

tuy nhiên chính quyền của Khu thuộc 

địa Malacca không thu đƣợc đủ tiền để 

chi trả cho các phí tổn. Chính quyền đã 

phải nhận hỗ trợ tài chính từ Chính Phủ 

Ấn Độ để cân bằng thu chi hàng năm. 

Bất chấp việc giá trị thƣơng mại của 

Penang là 1.5 triệu $, mức thâm hụt 

ngân sách hàng năm rơi vào khoảng 

700.000$. Chính phủ nhận đƣợc rất ít 

lợi ích trực tiếp từ thƣơng mại, và các 

quan chức lại hứng thú đến việc buôn 

bán hơn là việc cai trị. Đất đai đƣợc bán 

rẻ nhƣ cho và hòn đảo ít phát triển. Vì 

vậy vào năm 1801, thuế nhập khẩu và 

xuất khẩu 5% đã đƣợc đƣa ra để tăng 

nguồn thu và giảm chi phí mà chính phủ 

Ấn Độ phải hỗ trợ Penang. Và kể từ đó 

Penang không còn là một cảng tự do.  

 

 

 

 

 

Vào những ngày đầu của khu thuộc địa 



settlement‘s life the East India 

Company was not entirely sure of the 

success of its acquisition. It was 

expensive and was bringing them little 

advantage. However, during the 

French Revolutionary War, Penang 

proved a useful base: for example, it 

1795 when the British took over 

Malacca from the Dutch and in 179) 

when an expedition was sent to 

capture Spanish-held Manila. Bodi 

Holland and Spain had been overrun 

by France during the French 

Revolutionary Wars and Britain 

wished to make sure that the Frend did 

not have the use of Dutch and Spanish 

possessions in the East The expedition 

to Manila was able to obtain supplies 

at Penang 01 its voyage to the 

Philippines. 

Penang had now proved useful and 

had increased its prospects d 

permanency. Thus in 1800 the East 

India Company bought from tht Sultan 

of Kedah for $4,000 per year a strip of 

territory on the mainlani opposite the 

island. The purpose of this acquisition 

(to be calla Province Wellesley after 

the Governor-General of India) was 

twofold  
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?i the first place it protected the 

harbour of Penang by giving the 

y)mpany possession of both shores. 

Secondly it gave the Company jjand 

on which to grow food for the 

increasing population of the 

ijettlement. In the geographical 

circumstances such food could not be 

jrown on the island. After the Siamese 

invasion of Kedah in 1821 the ^ovince 

received a great increase in 

population, as many people in fled 

mới, Công Ty Đông Ấn không chắc 

chắn hoàn toàn về thành công của việc 

mua thuộc địa. Việc này khá tốn kém và 

hơi mạo hiểm đối với họ. Tuy nhiên, 

trong suốt Chiến Tranh Cách Mạng 

Pháp, Penang đã chứng tỏ là một căn cứ 

hữu dụng: ví dụ, vào năm 1795 khi 

ngƣời Anh chiếm lấy Malacca từ tay 

ngƣời Hà Lan và vào năm 1797 khi một 

đội quân đã đƣợc điều đi chiếm đóng 

Manila đang do ngƣời Tây Ban Nha 

chiếm giữ. Cả Hà Lan và Tây Ban Nha 

bị Pháp thôn tính trong Chiến Tranh 

Cách Mạng Pháp và nƣớc Anh muốn 

đảm bảo rằng ngƣời Pháp không thể sử 

dụng các thuộc địa của ngƣời Hà Lan và 

ngƣời Tây Ban Nha ở phía Đông. Đội 

quân đến Manila đã đƣợc cung cấp nhu 

yếu phẩm tại Penang trong hành trình 

tới Philippines.  

Penang lúc đó đã chứng minh đƣợc sự 

hữu ích và  có nhiều triển vọng đƣợc sử 

dụng lâu dài. Do đó vào năm 1800 Công 

Ty Đông Ấn đã bỏ ra 4000$/năm để 

mua một dải lãnh thổ trên đất liền đối 

diện với  hòn đảo của Quốc Vƣơng của 

Kedah. Việc mua khu đất này (sau này 

đƣợc gọi là Tỉnh Wellesley theo tên của 

Toàn Quyền tại Ấn Độ) có 2 mục đích. 

Trƣớc hết, nó giúp bảo vệ cảng Penang 

bởi Công Ty sở hữu cả hai bờ biển. Thứ 

hai, nó đem lại cho Công Ty phần đất 

có thể trồng trọt để phục vụ cho dân cƣ 

đang gia tăng của khu thuộc địa. Về 

hoàn cảnh địa lý, những cây lƣợng thực 

này không thể đƣợc trồng trên đảo. Sau 

cuộc xâm lăng Kedah của nƣớc Xiêm 

vào năm 1821, Tỉnh này gia tăng thêm 

một lƣợng dân số lớn, vì rất nhiều ngƣời 

từ Kedah đã chạy tị nạn khỏi cuộc tấn 

công của nƣớc Xiêm.  

 

 

 



from the Siamese attack, le permanent 

occupation of Penang was now 

assured, and the India Company had 

great hopes for its expansion. 

Anticipating, jr prematurely, the 

settlement‘s increase in importance, 

the pany in 1805 created Penang the 

fourth Presidency of India (the rs were 

Bombay, Madras and Calcutta). This 

made the settle- t seem too important 

and burdened its administration with 

large bers of expensive officials 

making it even less able to balance its 

jet.1 Between 1805 and >8*0 the 

Indian Government had great s of 

developing Penang as a naval base, 

but the timber available tie island was 

of little use for ship building, and in 

181 o it was led to use Trincomalee in 

Ceylon for this purpose, iiring the 

period of the long drawn-out wars 

between Britain and ice (1793-1815) 

Penang never really fulfilled the hopes 

which the ijDany had for it. The 

picture presented is one of 

disappointment •; hopes had been 

raised. Nothing seemed to quite work 

out as jfrpected. Free trade did not 

bring in revenue, the administration 

was Expensive, it did not have the 

requisite materials for a successful 

naval jjase, and during the war, the 

newly established coffee and pepper 

plantations on the island did not 

prosper. A further blow in 181 r was 

the capture of the Dutch possessions in 

Java by the British, for, instead [of 

using Penang, it was now possible for 

British ships to use Batavia [which 

was much more in the centre of South 

East Asian trade. The tDutch for the 

time being were removed as 

Và khi đó sự chiếm giữ Penang lâu dài 

đã đƣợc đảm bảo, và Công Ty Đông Ấn 

đặt nhiều kỳ vọng vào việc mở rộng 

Penang. Lƣờng trƣớc, và có phần hơi 

sớm, tầm quan trọng đang tăng cao của 

khu thuộc địa, vào năm 1805 Công Ty 

đã lập Penang thành quận thứ 4 của Ấn 

Độ (các quận trƣớc là Bombay, Madras 

và Calcutta). Việc này khiến cho khu 

thuộc địa trở nên quá quan trọng và tạo 

thêm gánh nặng cho chính quyền địa 

phƣơng  bằng số lƣợng lớn quan chức 

lƣơng cao khiến chính quyền khó khăn 

hơn trọng việc cân bằng thu chi
1
. Giữa 

năm 1805 và 1810, Chính Phủ Ấn Độ 

đã kì vọng phát triển Penang thành một 

căn cứ hải quân, nhƣng lƣợng gỗ sẵn có 

trên đảo không đủ để đóng thuyền, và 

vào năm 1810, Trinconmalee tại Ceylon 

đƣợc sử dụng cho mục đích này.  

Trong suốt giai đoạn chiến tranh dai 

dẳng giữa Anh và Pháp (1793-1815) 

Penang chƣa bao giờ đáp ứng đầy đủ kì 

vọng mà Công Ty đặt ra cho nó. Sau 

nhiều kỳ vọng đƣợc đặt ra, rốt cuộc chỉ 

có thất vọng. Tự do thƣơng mại không 

đem lại nguồn thu, việc quản lý hành 

chính thì tốn kém, không có đủ nguyên 

liệu cần thiết để xây dựng căn cứ hải 

quân, và trong suốt cuộc chiến, các đồn 

điền cà phê và tiêu mới xây trên đảo 

hoạt động không tốt. Một khó khăn nữa 

là vào năm 1811 ngƣời Anh chiếm giữ 

thuộc địa của ngƣời Hà Lan tại Java, và 

do đó thay vì sử dụng Penang, thì bấy 

giờ các tàu Anh đã có thể sử dụng 

Batavia, một nơi gần trung tâm thƣơng 

mại Đông Nam Á hơn. Ngƣời Hà Lan 

vào thời điểm đó đã không còn là đối 

thủ cạnh tranh, nhƣng hệ quả của các 

khó khăn trên là một lƣợng lớn giao 

dịch buôn bán trong vùng vẫn không đi 

                                                             
1 Một trong số các quan chức đƣợc cử tới Penang tại thời điểm đó với chức vụ Thứ Trƣởng là một ngƣời 

đàn ông còn trẻ tên là Stamford Raffles 



competitors, but as a result [the greater 

part of the region‘s trade still bypassed 

Penang. 

[* The year 1811-6 were prosperous 

years for the country traders [from 

India. The removal of the Dutch 

eliminated the rivals who [had 

previously excluded almost all 

competition, but Penang which thad 

been established as a trading 

settlement with the encourage¬ment of 

these same country traders did not 

benefit. The country Uraders preferred 

to use Batavia, for geographically 

Penang lay only ion the outskirts of 

the trade of the Indonesian 

Archipelago. It was in 

‘One of the officials sent to Penang at 

this time in the junior position of 

Assistant [Secretary was a young man 

called Stamford Raffles.  

fact too far away from the spice 

islands and from the main centres ol 

trade. This point is sharply illustrated 

after the establishment of another 

British settlement in Singapore in 

1819. Singapore because of its 

geographical position began to prosper 

immediately while the comparative 

decline of Penang continued. 

Throughout the nineteenth century 

Penang was always less prosperous 

than Singapore because its trading 

opportunities were more limited. 

While Penang was therefore 

something of a disappointment to the 

East India Company, Singapore was 

an almost instantaneous success. 

However before relating the 

circumstances of the establishment of 

Singapore we must first look at the 

second of the Malayan settlement! to 

come into British possession—

Malacca. 

qua Penang.  

 

 

Những năm 1811 – 1816 là những năm 

phát triển thịnh vƣợng của các thƣơng 

nhân quốc gia từ Ấn Độ. Việc loại bỏ 

ngƣời Hà Lan cũng đã loại bỏ  khỏi thị 

trƣờng các đối thủ cạnh tranh nặng ký 

trƣớc đây. Nhƣng dù đƣợc thành lập với 

tƣ cách một thuộc địa thƣơng mại cùng 

với sự ủng hộ của những thƣơng nhân 

quốc gia này, Penang lại không đƣợc 

hƣởng lợi từ việc đó. Các thƣơng nhân 

quốc gia thích sử dụng Batavia hơn, vì 

về mặt địa lý Penang chỉ nằm ở rìa 

ngoài thƣơng nghiệp của Quần Đảo 

Indonesia. Thực tế là Penang cách các 

hòn đảo trồng hƣơng liệu và trung tâm 

thƣơng mại chính quá xa. Điểm này đã 

đƣợc minh họa rõ nét nhất sau việc 

thành lập một thuộc địa khác của ngƣời 

Anh tại Singapore vào năm 1819. Bởi vị 

trí địa lý của mình, Singapore đã bắt đầu 

phát triển thịnh vƣợng ngay tức thì 

trong khi Penang thì lại tiếp tục tụt dốc. 

Trong suốt thế kỷ 19, Penang vẫn luôn 

kém  phát triển hơn so với Singapore 

bởi vì các cơ hội mua bán bị hạn chế 

hơn.  

 

 

 

 

 

Vì vậy, trong khi Penang là một thất bại 

đối với Công Ty Đông Ấn, Singapore 

lại là một thành công gần nhƣ ngay lập 

tức. Tuy nhiên, trƣớc khi đề cập đến các 

hoàn cảnh thành lập của Singapore, 

trƣớc hết chúng ta cần xem xét đến khu 

thứ hai trong khu thuộc địa Malaya 

thuộc sở hữu của ngƣời Anh – Malacca.  

 

 



THE BRITISH IN MALACCA 

As has been mentioned Malacca was 

occupied by the British in 1795 during 

the War of the French Revolution. By 

the Treaty of The Hague 

(i795)betweenHolland and France, the 

former was reluctantly brought into 

war against Britain, and the French 

supposedly were able to have full use 

of Dutch naval bases and possessions 

around the world, for example the 

Cape of Good Hope, Ceylon and Java, 

as well as Malacca, In order to 

forestall French use of the bases, 

Britain came to an agree¬ment with 

the Dutch Government-in-exile that 

Britain would take over various Dutch 

possessions for the duration of the 

war. It was in these circumstances that 

Malacca was occupied without 

resistance in 1795. The Malacca that 

the British acquired for the duration of 

the wan was a town with a population 

of about 15,000, larger than the newly 

established Penang. As we have seen 

in previous chapters, the com¬mercial 

importance of Malacca had declined 

while the town was in the possession 

of the Dutch, and its main Use had 

become that of a ‗guard post‘ for the 

enforcement of Dutch attempts to 

monopolize trade in the Archipelago. 

British occupation of Malacca was to 

be only tem¬porary; the town was to 

be returned to the Dutch at the end of 

hostilities. However the British 

authorities in Penang did not look 

forward to the return of Dutch control. 

It would mean that the Dutdl would 

try to reimpose their monopoly of 

trade, and Penang‘s hopes of 

becoming the centre of the Malayan 

tin trade would be thwarted The East 

India Company therefore began its 

NGƢỜI ANH TẠI MALACCA 

Nhƣ đã đƣợc đề cập, Malacca do ngƣời 

Anh chiếm đóng từ năm 1795 trong suốt 

Chiến Tranh Cách Mạng Pháp. Bằng 

Hiệp Định Hague (Lahay) (1975) giữa 

Hà Lan và Pháp, Hà Lan bị kéo vào 

cuộc chiến chống lại ngƣời Anh một 

cách miễn cƣỡng, và ngƣời Pháp do đó 

có thể sử dụng tất cả các căn cứ hải 

quân và thuộc địa của Hà Lan trên khắp 

thế giới, ví dụ nhƣ Mũi Hảo Vọng, 

Ceylon và Java, cũng nhƣ Malacca. 

Nhằm ngăn chặn trƣớc việc ngƣời Pháp 

sử dụng các căn cứ này, nƣớc Anh đã 

chiếm lấy rất nhiều thuộc địa của Hà 

Lan trong khoảng thời gian chiến tranh. 

Malacca đã bị chiếm đóng mà không 

gặp phải sự kháng cự vào năm 1795 

trong hoàn cảnh nhƣ vậy. Malacca mà 

ngƣời Anh đã chiếm lấy trong khoảng 

thời gian chiến tranh là một thành phố 

với dân số khoảng 15.000 ngƣời, lớn 

hơn Penang vừa đƣợc thành lập. Nhƣ 

chúng ta đã thấy tại các chƣơng trƣớc, 

tầm quan trọng trong thƣơng mại của 

Malacca đã giảm sút khi thành phố còn 

là thuộc địa của ngƣời Hà Lan, và mục 

đích sử dụng chủ yếu của Malacca là 

một ―trạm bảo vệ‖  cho việc ngƣời Hà 

Lan độc quyền hóa thƣơng mại tại Quần 

Đảo. Việc ngƣời Anh chiếm giữ 

Malacca lúc đầu chỉ là tạm thời; và 

thành phố sẽ đƣợc trao trả cho ngƣời Hà 

Lan sau khi hết chiến tranh. Tuy nhiên, 

giới chức Anh ở Penang đã không có ý 

định trao trả quyền kiểm soát cho ngƣời 

Hà Lan. Điều này có nghĩa là ngƣời Hà 

Lan sẽ cố gắng áp đặt lại sự độc quyền 

thƣơng mại của họ, và những kỳ vọng 

về việc Penang trở thành một trung tâm 

thƣơng mại của Malaya sẽ bị cản trở. Vì 

vậy, Công Ty Đông Ấn bắt đầu việc cai 

trị Malacca bằng cách lên kế hoạch cho 

sự đi xuống lâu dài của nó. Nếu thành 



administration of Malacca by planning 

its permanent decline. If the town was 

to b? returned to the Dutch, it would 

be a town of almost no importance. 

| In 1795 Malacca had fallen into 

British hands easily, almost 

^voluntarily, the first time the town 

had changed hands since 1641. 

[Considering the number of times 

Malacca had successfully withstood ; 

siege after siege this was certainly a 

quiet exchange. However the 

^significance of this easy acquisition 

was not lost on the East India 

Company for they realized that they 

would never have such an I 

opportunity again; they realized that to 

capture Malacca from the \ Dutch 

would require stiff fighting. The 

Company therefore decided ■- to 

remove Malacca‘s invulnerability by 

destroying the famous fortress which 

had for so long been the key to its 

successful defence. Therefore 

.between the years 1806-7 Malacca‘s 

fortress was systematically 

des¬troyed. It is ironic that Malaya‘s 

most famous building was in fact 

demolished without purpose because 

the British again occupied Malacca by 

peaceful means in 1824. The fortress 

took a long time to be destroyed and 

from contemporary accounts in the 

Hikayat I Abdullah it was a very 

difficult job of demolition 

The destruction of A Famosa was the 

first step taken by the British to 

weaken Malacca. The second was a 

proposal to move the entire population 

to Penang so that when the Dutch 

returned they would find nothing but a 

derelict ‗ghost‘ town. However, the 

proposal was easier to make than to 

carry out for it was very unlikely that 

phố bị trao trả cho Hà Lan, nó sẽ là một 

thành phố không có giá trị.  

 

 

Vào năm 1795, Malacca đã rơi vào tay 

ngƣời Anh một cách dễ dàng, gần nhƣ 

là tự nguyện, đây là lần đầu tiên thành 

phố đổi chủ kể từ năm 1641. Xét đến số 

lần Malacca đã thành công vƣợt qua hết 

khó khăn này đến khó khăn khác, đây 

chắc chắn chỉ là một thay đổi nhỏ. Tuy 

nhiên, tầm quan trọng của việc chuyển 

giao đơn giản này không bị bỏ qua bởi 

Công Ty Đông Ấn vì họ nhận thấy rằng 

họ sẽ không gặp một cơ hội nhƣ vậy 

một lần nữa; họ nhận ra rằng chiếm lấy 

Malacca từ tay ngƣời Hà Lan đã có lẽ 

phải cần đến sự chiến đấu gian khổ. Vì 

vậy Công Ty quyết định loại bỏ sự bất 

khả xâm phạm của Malacca bằng việc 

phá hủy pháo đài nổi tiếng mà từ lâu đã 

trở thành yếu tố chủ chốt làm nên khả 

năng phòng ngự tuyệt vời của Malacca. 

Vì vậy giữa những năm 1806 – 1807, 

pháo đài của Malacca đã bị phá hủy một 

cách hệ thống. Thật mỉa mai là công 

trình nổi tiếng nhất của Malacca thực tế 

bị phá hủy một cách vô ích vì ngƣời 

Anh lại chiếm giữ Malacca một cách 

hòa bình vào năm 1824. Việc phá hủy 

pháo đài mất nhiều thời gian và theo 

nhiều miêu tả đƣơng thời trong tác 

phẩm Hikayat Abdullah việc phá hủy là 

một công việc cực kỳ khó khăn.  

 

Việc phá hủy A Famosa là bƣớc đầu 

tiên mà ngƣời Anh tiến hành để làm suy 

yếu Malacca. Bƣớc thứ hai là việc đề 

xuất di chuyển toàn bộ dân cƣ tới 

Penang để khi ngƣời Hà Lan quay lại họ 

sẽ không thể tìm thấy gì ngoài một 

thành phố ―ma‖ vô chủ. Tuy nhiên, đƣa 

ra đề xuất thì dễ nhƣng thực thi thì lại 

khó vì dân cƣ lâu đời tại Malacca có vẻ 



the long- established inhabitants of 

Malacca would voluntarily give up 

their homes and move to another 

town. It was at this juncture, in 1808, 

that 

■ Stamford Raffles came to 

Malacca from Penang on holiday. He 

had become interested in Malay 

history and traditions, and this partly 

^accounts for his interest in Malacca. 

He felt that Malacca was the historical 

centre of Malaya and as such should 

be preserved rather than destroyed. 

Although unasked, he submitted a 

report to his superiors advocating the 

retention of the settlement. He put 

forward three reasons: (a) if Britain 

gave up the settlement someone else 

would ; occupy it to the loss of 

Penang; (b) Malacca itself was of 

historical [importance and it did not 

cost money to administer; and (c) 

Britain j had invited the population to 

remain there after the Dutch departure 

[; and therefore this pledge to the 

population should not be broken. His 

farguments were well received and as 

a result of his intercession ^Malacca 

was reprieved. The East India 

Company decided that no Lattempt 

would be made to transfer large 

numbers of the population land that 

Malacca should continue to be 

administered as a going * concern. 

r In 1815 the Napoleanic wars in 

Europe came to an end and Britain‘s 
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excuse for holding Dutch possessions 

in Asia ended. She no longer had any 

need to prevent the use of the 

possessions by France. As previously? 

agreed by Britain, Holland‘s overseas 

territories were to be returned; to her 

when the war was over. In these 

không  muốn tự nguyện từ bỏ nhà cửa 

của họ và chuyển đến một thành phố 

khác.  Trong tình hình này, vào năm 

1808, Stamford Raffles đi nghỉ tới 

Malacca từ Penang. Ông ta đã quan tâm 

tới lịch sử và truyền thống Malay, và 

điều này phần nào khiến ông ta hứng 

thú tới Malacca. Ông ta cảm thấy rằng 

Malacca là trung tâm lịch sử của 

Malaya và cần phải đƣợc bảo tồn chứ 

không phải phá hủy. Mặc dù không 

đƣợc yêu cầu, ông ta đệ trình một báo 

cáo lên cấp trên ủng hộ việc giữ lại 

thuộc địa. Ông ta đƣa ra 3 lý do: (a) nếu 

nƣớc Anh từ bỏ thuộc địa này thì quốc 

gia khác sẽ chiếm giữ và Penang sẽ mất; 

(b) bản thân Malacca có một vai trò lịch 

sử quan trọng và không tốn tiền để cai 

trị; và (c) nƣớc Anh đã kêu gọi dân 

chúng ở lại sau khi ngƣời Hà Lan rời 

khỏi đây và vì vậy cần giữ lời hứa với 

dân chúng. Lập luận của ông đã đƣợc 

tiếp nhận tích cực và kết quả của việc 

ông ta can thiệp là việc phá hủy 

Malacca đã đƣợc hủy bỏ. Công Ty 

Đông Ấn quyết định rằng không đƣợc 

có bất kỳ động thái nào nhằm di chuyển 

lƣợng lớn dân cƣ và Malacca cần tiếp 

tục đƣợc cai trị một cách liên tục.  

 

 

 

 

 

Vào năm 1815 những cuộc chiến tranh 

của Napoleon tại Châu Âu đi vào hồi 

kết và lý do để ngƣời Anh chiếm giữ 

thuộc địa của Hà Lan tại Châu Á cũng 

không còn. Nƣớc Anh không còn bất kỳ 

nhu cầu nào để ngăn chặn việc nƣớc 

Pháp sử dụng những thuộc địa này. Nhƣ 

nƣớc Anh đã đồng ý trƣớc đó, các lãnh 

thổ ở ngoại quốc của Hà Lan sẽ đƣợc 

trao trả khi cuộc chiến kết thúc. Dƣới 



circumstances Malacca reverted to the 

Dutch although they did not occupy 

the town again until 1818.' We shall 

see below, however, that Malacca was 

only to return to the Dutch for six 

years. 

THE ESTABLISHMENT OF 

SINGAPORE 

We must now turn to the third of the 

Straits Settlements, Singapore,? which 

was the second to be established by 

the British in Malaya. But; first of all 

we must say a little about the person 

who was primarily responsible for 

founding Singapore and whom we 

have already mentioned as the official 

who prevented the destruction of 

Malacca in 1808. 

 

Thomas Stamford Raffles j 

Thomas Stamford Raffles was born in 

1781 on board a ship captained by his 

father that happened at the time to be 

in the West Indies. Ho was brought up 

in England where he received an 

average education| At the age of about 

fifteen he obtained employment as a 

clerk in th| London office of the East 

India Company. He soon attracted thd 

attention of his superiors by his 

industry and ambition and wad 

eventually selected to go to the East in 

the service of the Company Thus (in 

1805) at the age of twenty four he was 

posted to Penang as om of the 

assistant secretaries in the 

government. Soon after his arrival iif 

Penang he became a fluent Malay 

speaker; in fact he had begun tfi study 

the language on the voyage out from 

England. As a result hi became the 

administration‘s expert in Malay and 

an interpreter to thi government. He 

progressed from language to an 

những hoàn cảnh này Malacca đƣợc 

trao trả lại cho ngƣời Hà Lan mặc dù 

mãi đến năm 1818 Hà Lan mới chiếm 

giữ thành phố một lần nữa. Tuy nhiên, ở 

bên dƣới, chúng ta sẽ thấy rằng Malacca 

chỉ trở về Hà Lan trong 6 năm.  

SỰ THÀNH LẬP SINGAPORE 

 

Chúng ta chuyển sang vùng thuộc địa 

thứ ba của Khu thuộc địa eo biển 

Malacca (Straits Settlements): 

Singapore, là vùng thuộc địa thứ hai 

đƣợc lập ra bởi ngƣời Anh tại Malaya. 

Nhƣng trƣớc tiên chúng ta cần đề cập 

một chút về ngƣời đã đóng vai trò chủ 

yếu trong việc thành lập Singapore và 

những quan chức đã ngăn chặn sự sụp 

đổ của Malacca vào năm 1808 nhƣ 

chúng ta đã đề cập đến.  

Thomas Stamford Raffles 

Thomas Stamford Raffles sinh năm 

1781 trên một con tàu do cha ông làm 

thuyền trƣởng lúc đó đang trên vùng 

biển Tây Ấn. Ông lớn lên và học hết 

phổ thông tại Anh. Đến năm 18 tuổi ông 

đƣợc nhận làm thƣ ký tại văn phòng 

London của Công Ty Đông Ấn. Ông 

sớm thu hút sự chú ý của cấp trên bởi sự 

chăm chỉ và tham vọng của mình và 

cuối cùng đƣợc cử sang phía Đông công 

tác. Do đó (vào năm 1805) ở tuổi 24 

ông đã giữ chức thứ trƣởng trong chính 

phủ. Ngay sau khi đến Penang ông đã 

có thể nói tiếng Malay thành thạo; thực 

tế là ông đã bắt đầu học tiếng Malay 

trên chuyến đi từ Anh. Kết quả là ông 

trở thành chuyên gia tiếng Malay và 

phiên dịch viên của chính phủ. Bắt 

nguồn từ ngôn ngữ ông chuyển hứng 

thú sang phong tục, lịch sử và văn hóa, 

và nhƣ chúng ta đã biết, để theo đuổi 

các hứng thú này, Raffles đã đến 

Malacca vào năm 1808. Ông đã đọc về 

Malacca là một trung tâm lịch sử của 



interest in custom* history and culture, 

and it was while pursuing these 

interests that, a( we have seen, Raffles 

went to Malacca in 1808. He had read 

aboiif Malacca being the historical 

centre of Malay culture in the 

Peninsulaj and he had gone there to 

collect manuscripts. He was 

astonished that the directors of the 

East India Company should consider 

the abandon- ment of a town of such 

historical importance and, as we have 

said, hi considered that the Company 

also had an obligation towards th( 

inhabitants. He outlined these views in 

a personal dispatch to thi Company 

and at the same time mentioned the 

possibility of tto extension of British 

influence to other parts of the 

Archipelago.  

The Establishment of the Straits 

Settlements 

This dispatch of Raffles, not the usual 

thing to be submitted by a ^fairly 

junior employee of the Company, 

brought him to the notice of rLord 

Minto, the Governor-General of India 

under whose jurisdiction fPenang and 

Malacca lay. Lord Minto was already 

considering the ;further reduction of 

other Dutch possessions in Eastern 

Asia after the capture of the Moluccas 

in 1808, and Raffles impressed him as 

one who knew more than was usual 

about the affairs of the Malayan 

world. 

' Lord Minto was in fact seriously 

considering the capture of Java from 

the Dutch, for in 1810 Holland itself 

had been annexed by Napoleon. In 

1810 Raffles was summoned to 

Calcutta. As a result of this visit 

jRaffles was appointed the Governor-

General‘s Agent to the Malay states 

nền văn hóa Malay tại Bán đảo, và ông 

đến đây để thu thập các bản thảo. Ông 

đã kinh ngạc trƣớc việc các giám đốc 

của Công Ty Đông Ấn xem xét từ bỏ 

một thành phố có tầm quan trọng lớn về 

mặt lịch sử nhƣ vậy, và nhƣ chúng ta đã 

nói, ông cho rằng Công ty cũng có 

nghĩa vụ đối với dân cƣ nơi đây. Ông đã 

tóm tắt quan điểm này trong một thƣ cá 

nhân gửi tới Công Ty và đồng thời đề 

cập đến khả năng mở rộng ảnh hƣởng 

của ngƣời Anh đến các phần khác của 

Quần Đảo. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sự thành lập các khu định cƣ eo biển 

 

Thƣ của Raffles, không phải là một lá 

thƣ thông thƣờng đƣợc đệ trình bởi một 

nhân viên cấp dƣới của Công Ty, khiến 

ông ta đƣợc Thƣợng nghị sĩ Minto  chú 

ý, Toàn Quyền tại Ấn Độ có thẩm 

quyền phụ trách Penang và Malacca. 

Thƣợng nghị sĩ Minto  đang xem xét 

đến việc tiếp tục giảm các thuộc địa 

khác của Hà Lan tại Đông Á sau khi 

chiếm đóng Moluccas vào năm 1808, và 

Raffles đã gây ấn tƣợng cho ông ta nhƣ 

một ngƣời hiểu biết hơn bình thƣờng về 

các sự vụ của thế giới Malaya. Thƣợng 

nghị sĩ Minto thực tế đang xem xét một 

cách nghiêm túc việc chiếm lấy Java 

khỏi tay ngƣời Hà Lan, vì vào năm 1810 

Hà Lan đã bị Napoleon thôn tính. Vào 

năm 1810, Raffles đƣợc điều đến 

Calcutta. Kết quả của chuyến thăm này 

là Rafles đƣợc bổ nhiệm làm Đặc Vụ 

của Toàn Quyền tại các quốc gia Malay 

với trụ sở chính đặt tại Malacca. Từ đây, 



with his headquarters in Malacca. 

From there he was to prepare the way 

for the invasion of Java. In this 

capacity Raffles obtained much 

detailed information about affairs in 

the region. In 1811 Lord |;Minto called 

at Malacca with the British expedition 

en route to Java. ;He took Raffles with 

him and, after a campaign which 

proved reason¬ably easy, he appointed 

Raffles as Lieutenant-Governor of 

Java, at the .age of thirty. 

p Raffles‘ term of service in Java does 

not really concern the history tof 

Malaya although it was perhaps one of 

the most fruitful periods of his life. 

However the years spent in Java were 

to indirectly affect the future course of 

Malayan history. Raffles‘ 

administration of Java was 

concentrated on making the 

government pay its way, a thing which 

Jhe Dutch had not been able to do in 

the latter years of the eighteenth 

sentury. Raffles wanted the British to 

keep Java permanently, but he pnew 

that the Company was reluctant to do 

so because of the possible fexpense 

involved. Raffles introduced many 

liberal ideas into Java— |and reforms 

and land distribution, abolition of 

feudal services and Rhe freeing of 

trade—but unfortunately he was not to 

remain in the gauntry long enough to 

see his plans mature to success. It is 

also true Ithat Raffles‘ administration 

in Java still cost the Company money. 

i 

I THE RETURN OF DUTCH 

POSSESSIONS 

| The reason for the return of the 

Dutch possessions in Eastern Asia ft 

1815 was almost entirely due to 

European considerations. Britain fed 

ông ta chuẩn bị cách xâm chiếm Java. 

Với chức vụ này, Raffles đã thu đƣợc 

nhiều thông tin chi tiết về các sự vụ tại 

khu vực. Vào năm 1811 Thƣợng nghị sĩ 

Minto đã triệu tập một đội quân Anh tại 

Malacca lên đƣờng tới Java. Ông ta đƣa 

Raffles đi theo và, sau một chiến dịch 

khá dễ dàng, ông ta bổ nhiệm Raffles 

làm Tỉnh Trƣởng của Java, vào tuổi 30.  

 

 

 

Chức trách (công việc) của Raffles tại 

Java không thực sự liên quan đến (gắn 

với) lịch sử Malaya mặc dù đây là một 

trong những năm tháng huy hoàng nhất 

trong cuộc đồi ông ta. Tuy nhiên, những 

năm tháng của ông ta ở Java đã tác động 

một cách gián tiếp tới tƣơng lai của lịch 

sử Malaya. Sự cai trị của Raffles tại 

Java chú trọng vào việc khiến chính phủ 

có đủ tiền để hoạt động, một điều mà 

ngƣời Hà Lan đã không thể làm đƣợc 

trong những năm cuối của thế kỷ 18. 

Raffles mong muốn ngƣời Anh giữ Java 

lau dài, nhƣng ông ta biết rằng Công Ty 

chỉ miễn cƣỡng làm vậy vì những chi 

phí phát sinh liên quan. Raffles đã mang 

tới Java nhiều tƣ tƣởng tự do -  cải cách 

đất đai và phân phối đất đai, hủy bỏ chế 

độ phong kiến và tự do hóa thƣơng mại 

– nhƣng không may là ông ta không ở 

lại đây đủ lâu để thấy những kế hoạch 

của ông đem lại thành công. Sự cai trị 

của Raffles tại Java vẫn khiến Công Ty 

mất tiền.  

 

 

VIỆC TRAO TRẢ THUỘC ĐỊA CỦA 

HÀ LAN 

Lý do cho việc trao trả thuộc địa của Hà 

Lan tại Đông Á vào năm 1815 chủ yếu 

là do xem xét đến Châu Âu. Vào năm 

1815, nƣớc Anh đã thành công chấm 



in 1815 brought to a successful 

conclusion a war which they had |een 

fighting against the French since 1793. 

At the peace conference iin Vienna 

almost all the countries of Europe 

wished to make sure that {France 

would never cause so murh t-rrmWo  

main aims of the Congress of Vienna. 

The British felt that France should not 

be surrounded by many weak states, 

for this might tempt her towards 

further aggression. Holland as one 

border state therefore had to be strong, 

and Britain considered that Holland 

would not be; sufficiently strong 

without her overseas possessions. It 

was therefore to s strengthen 

Holland‘s position in Europe that her 

possessions in east Java, the Moluccas 

and Malacca were returned to her. 

These decisions were naturally 

opposed by Raffles who was very 

much against seeing the re-imposition 

of the Dutch policy of monopoly in 

South-East Asia. But his protests 

weighed little with the British 

Government, and his . supporter, Lord 

Minto, was no longer Governor-

General in India. Thus his long-term 

plans for the establishment of British 

protection over the states of the 

Archipelago were'discarded, and in 

1816 Raffles returned to England. 

Raffles, now Sir Stamford Raffles, 

came back to the East again in 1817 as 

Lieutenant-Governor of Bencoolen, an 

insignificant British trading post on 

the west coast of Sumatra. From here 

he continued to plan for the extension 

of British influence in South-East 

Asia.  

 

British trade was likely to be 

completely excluded by the Dutch, 

dứt một cuộc chiến mà họ đã chiến đấu 

với ngƣời Pháp kể từ năm 1793. Tại hội 

nghị hòa bình tại Vienna hầu hết các 

quốc gia Châu Âu mong muốn đảm bảo 

rằng nƣớc Pháp sẽ không bao giờ gây 

thêm bất kỳ rắc rối nào nữa.  

Mới dịch (Xuân Quỳnh) 

…. những mục tiêu chính của Hội nghị 

Viên. Anh cho rằng những quốc gia non 

kém không nên bao vây Pháp vì chỉ 

khiến Pháp càng có cớ để gấy hấn. Hà 

Lan là một nƣớc nhỏ (nƣớc giáp biên 

giới) do vậy cần phải đƣợc củng cố 

vững chắc, Anh cho rằng Hà Lan nếu 

không nhờ có thuộc địa ở hải ngoại thì 

chắc chắn không đủ vững mạnh. Để 

củng cố vị thế của Hà Lan ở châu Âu, 

thuộc địa ở phía đông Java, Moluccas 

và Malacca đã đƣợc trao trả lại cho Hà 

Lan. Raffles đã phản đối kịch liệt những 

quyết định này vì ông e ngại sự tái áp 

đặt các chính sách độc quyền của Hà 

Lan ở Đông Nam Á. Nhƣng các cuộc 

biểu tình của ông không làm Chính phủ 

Anh bận tâm, thậm chí ngƣời đứng về 

phe ông Raffles, Lord Minto, không bao 

lâu bị mất chức Tổng toàn quyền Ấn Độ 

.Nhƣ vậy kế hoạch dài hạn của ông về 

việc thiết lập vành đai bảo vệ Anh thông 

qua các quốc gia nằm trong quần đảo bị 

xóa bỏ, năm 1816 Raffles quay trở về 

Anh 

 

Raffles hay còn gọi là ngài Stamford 

Raffles trở lại Viễn Đông vào năm 

1817, với tƣ cách là trung đốc (tỉnh 

trƣởng) vùng Bencoolen, vùng này chỉ 

là một trạm thông thƣơng buôn bán nhỏ 

bé của Anh nằm phía tây của đảo 

Sumatra. Từ nơi này, ông tiếp tục có kế 

hoạch để mở rộng ảnh hƣởng Anh tại 

Đông Nam Á. 

Thƣơng mại Anh chắc chắn sẽ không có 

bóng dáng ngƣời Hà Lan, vì họ không 



who were not only imposing their 

monopoly policy but were extending 

it. He considered that Britain had to 

have a centrally located settlement. 

Before he had left England, Raffles 

had written to George Canning (the 

future Foreign Minister) suggesting 

Bangka or Bintan as suitable places, 

but the British Government had no 

wish to antagonize the Dutch by 

following Raffles‘ suggestions; and 

Raffles‘ attempts in Bencoolen to 

make treaties with the local rulers only 

produced reprimands from London. 

However he was again to be fortunate 

in; finding an influential supporter in 

the Governor-General in India, this 

time Lord Hastings. Raffles continued 

to bombard the Government: of India 

with his suggestions and eventually he 

was again summoned; to Calcutta in 

1818 where he outlined his plans for 

establishing^ British settlement to the 

south of the Malay Peninsula. 

The Governor-General was impressed 

by the arguments put forward:! and 

gave Raffles permission to proceed 

with the establishment of such: a 

settlement. Raffles left Calcutta 

towards the end of 1818 and proceed*: 

ed first of all to Penang where he 

found that his plans for a rival 

settlement were not well received. He 

then set sail further south going: first 

to the Carimon Islands where he found 

that there was nd suitable harbour and 

then to *the island of Singaporef 

where he landed off January 28th, 

1819. 

RAFFLES AND THE RULERS OF 

JOHORE 

What did Raffles know about the 

island of Singapore? How could : he 

be sure that there was a possibility of 

chỉ áp đặt chính sách độc quyền của 

mình mà còn nhân rộng nó. Ông cho 

rằng nƣớc Anh phải có một thuộc địa 

nằm ở vị trí trung tâm. Trƣớc khi rời 

Anh, Raffles đã viết thƣ gợi ý cho 

George Canning (Bộ trƣởng Ngoại giao 

kế nhiệm), về hai nơi ông cho là phù 

hợp, Bangka hoặc Bintan, nhƣng Chính 

phủ Anh không muốn gây rắc rối với Hà 

Lan nên không làm theo gợi ý Raffles, 

và mọi nỗ lực của ông để làm hài lòng 

các nhà lãnh đạo ở Bencoolen chỉ nhận 

đƣợc vô số lời khiển trách bay từ 

London đến. Tuy nhiên, ông lại gặp 

may trong việc thuyết phục một ngƣời 

ủng hộ có thế lực giữ chức Tổng toàn 

quyền Ấn Độ: Lord Hastings. Raffles 

tiếp tục đề xuất dồn dập các ý kiến của 

mình lên chính phủ và cuối cùng ông lại 

bị triệu tập đến Calcutta vào năm 1818, 

nơi ông đã phác thảo kế hoạch thiết lập 

một thuộc địa của Anh ở phía nam bán 

đảo Mã Lai.  

 

Nhà tổng toàn quyền đã rất ấn tƣợng với 

những lập luận của ông và đã cho phép 

Raffles tiến hành tìm ra một thuộc địa 

nhƣ vậy. Raffles rời Calcutta vào cuối 

năm 1818 và đến Penang- nơi mà các kế 

hoạch về một thuộc địa đầy tính cạnh 

tranh của ông không đƣợc đón nhận. 

Sau đó ông ra khơi hƣớng về phía nam: 

địa điểm ông đặt chân đầu tiên là quần 

đảo Carimon nhƣng ông không tìm thấy 

một bến cảng nào thích hợp để bỏ neo, 

sau đó ông dừng chân ở đảo Singapore 

vào ngày 28 tháng một năm 1819.  

 

RAFFLES VÀ NHỮNG NGƢỜI 

THỐNG TRỊ JOHORE 

Raffles đã biết những gì về đảo 

Singapore? Làm thế nào ông có thể chắc 

chắn rằng nơi này Anh có thể thiết lập 

một thuộc địa ? Bây giờ chúng ta phải 



establishing a British settle¬ment 

there? We must now return to the 

history of Johore and to the point 

where we left the story in the previous 

chapter. Raffles was well I informed 

about Malay affairs, and there is little 

reason to think that he was not in 

possession of the facts of recent 

Johore history. In 1795 •Sultan 

Mahmud had returned to Riau and 

established himself as the nominal 

ruler of what remained of the Johore 

Empire. We saw in the 'last chapter 

that large parts of the Johore Empire 

were no longer under J his real control 

or even under the control of the actual 

ruler of Johore, the Bugis under-King. 

In theory Johore now consisted of the 

mainland ; area (roughly the present 

states of Johore and Pahang) together 

with I a number of islands to the 

south, including Singapore, Riau and 

Lingga. The capture of Malacca by the 

British had removed the Dutch 

influence for the time being and 

permitted the Bugis to regain thdr \ old 

position. Sultan Mahmud disliked the 

return of the Biigi$ for' tftey became 

the masters of his kingdom in place of 

the Dutch, and even¬tually he moved 

away from Riau to Lingga where he 

lived in semi- l retirement. 

. It was at Lingga that Sultan Mahmud 

died in 1812, and his death 

‗immediately provoked a crisis over 

the succession to the throne. Nothing 

had been decided about the 

succession, for the matter was j 

somewhat complicated. The Sultan 

had had four wives: two of them I 

were royal, and two were commoners. 

Both the royal wives were ^childless, 

but there were two sons by the other 

wives: the elder was ^Tengku 

quay trở lại lịch sử của Johore và quay 

lại câu chuyện mà chúng ta đã đề cập ở 

chƣơng trƣớc. Raffles hiểu biết rất rõ về 

tình hình Mã Lai, và không có lý do gì 

mà ông không nắm đƣợc tình hình thuộc 

địa ở  Johore. Năm 1795 quốc vƣơng 

Mahmud đã trở lại Riau và trở thành 

quốc vƣơng bù nhìn của tàn quốc 

Johore. Chúng ta đã thấy trong chƣơng 

cuối đế quốc Johore không nằm trong 

tay quốc vƣơng bù nhìn và thậm chí còn 

không nằm dƣới sự kiểm soát của thế 

lực thực quyền đứng đằng sau, tiểu 

vƣơng Bugis. Về mặt lý thuyết, Johore 

bao gồm khu vực đất liền ( nhìn chung 

là các bang của Johore và Pahang), một 

số đảo ở phía nam, bao gồm Singapore, 

Riau và Lingga. Anh chiếm đóng 

Malacca khiến uy thế của Hà Lan không 

còn nữa và Anh cũng cho phép ngƣời 

Bugis lấy lại vị thế cũ. Sự trở lại của 

ngƣời Bugis làm đức vua Mahmud 

không hài lòng vì họ đã thay thế Hà Lan 

làm chủ nhân vƣơng quốc, cuối cùng 

ông chuyển từ Riau đến Lingga và làm 

vua trên danh nghĩa   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sultan Mahmud chết vào năm 1812 ở 

Lingga, và cái chết của ông ngay lập tức 

gây ra một cuộc tranh chấp ngôi vị. Vấn 

đề này phức tạp đến nỗi mà không thể 

quyết định đƣợc ngƣời nào sẽ lên ngôi. 

Quốc vƣơng đã có bốn ngƣời vợ: hai 

ngƣời thuộc dòng dõi hoàng tộc, và hai 

ngƣời là thƣờng dân. Hai ngƣời vợ 

hoàng tộc không có con nhƣng hai bà 

vợ kia thì đều sinh hạ đƣợc một ngƣời 

con trai: ngƣời con cả là Tengku 

Hussein, ngƣời con út là Tengku Abdul 



Hussein, the younger Tengku Abdul 

Rahman. Although Sultan Mahmud 

had made no official pronouncement 

over the succes¬sion it would seem 

that he intended his eldest son, Tengku 

Hussein, 

| to follow him to the throne, for he 

had arranged marriages for him | with 

relatives of the two major chiefs of the 

Johore Empire, the Benda- |hara and 

the Temenggong. In fact Tengku 

Hussein was with the KBendahara in 

Pahang when his father died in 1812. 

 

In these circumstances, that is in the 

absence of the elder son, the feBugis 

under-King decided to place the 

younger son, Tengku Abdul |Rahman, 

on the throne, probably feeling that the 

son with the weaker jidaim would be 

more dependent on Bugis support. 

Tengku Hussein |daimed the throne 

with the support of the royal wives of 

Sultan ^Mahmud, but there was little 

that he could do against the Bugis to 
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assert his rights. When the Dufch 

returned to influence in South-East, 

Asia, after 1815, they recognized the 

Bugis-selected Sultan and this: 

recognition was also tacitly supported 

by the British in a treaty with : the 

under-King in 1818. Meanwhile 

Tengku Hussein lived in some-, what 

penniless exile among the islands to 

the south of the Malays Peninsula. 

These then were the facts almost 

certainly known to Raffles when; he 

landed on Singapore island in 1819. 

He discovered immediately ; that there 

were were no Dutch on the island, that 

it possessed a most - suitable harbour 

and was in a very favourable 

geographical position. Also1 on the 

Rahman. Mặc dù đức vua Mahmud 

không tuyên bố ngƣời kế vị ngai vàng 

nhƣng có vẻ ông muốn dành ngôi báu 

cho con trai cả Tengku Hussein vì ông 

đã sắp xếp cuộc hôn nhân với hoàng 

thân của hai thủ lĩnh đế quốc Johore, 

Bendahara và Temenggong. Trong thực 

tế Tengku Hussein chọn Bendahara ở 

Pahang khi cha ông qua đời vào năm 

1812. 

 

 

 

 

Nếu không có con trai cả, tiểu vƣơng 

Bugis sẽ truyền ngai vàng cho con trai 

thứ, Tengku Abdul Rahman, vì cho rằng 

sự non nớt của đức vua sẽ làm cho ngài 

lệ thuộc vào ngƣời Bugis. Tengku 

Hussein tuyên bố lên ngôi với sự hỗ trợ 

của hai bà vợ vua Mahmud thuộc dòng 

dõi hoàng gia nhƣng ông hầu nhƣ không 

thể làm gì để chống lại ngƣời Bugis đề 

giành lại quyền lực về tay mình.  

Mới 

Khi thế lực của Hà Lan ở Đông Nam Á 

trở lại sau năm 1815, họ hiểu rằng quốc 

vƣơng là do ngƣời Bugis lựa chọn và 

đƣợc ủng hộ bởi Anh khi Anh kí kết 

hiệp ƣớc với các tiểu vƣơng năm 1818. 

Trong khi đó Tengku Hussein sống lƣu 

vong, không một xu dính túi, trôi dạt 

đến hòn đảo ở phía nam của bán đảo Mã 

Lai 

 

Raffles chắc chắn nắm rõ tình tình khi 

ông bỏ neo trên đảo Singapore vào năm 

1819. Ngay lập tức ông hiểu rằng đảo 

này không có bóng dáng Hà Lan, nó 

không chỉ sở hữu một hải cảng thích 

hợp nhất mà còn nằm ở một vị trí địa lý 

rất thuận lợi. Trên đảo cũng có sự góp 

mặt của Temenggong, ông là thủ lĩnh 

lãnh thổ phía nam của đại lục và sở hữu 



island was the Temenggong, the 

territorial chief of the southern part of 

mainland and the island itself. Raffles 

knew that he was in fact within the 

Dutch sphere of influence, for 

Singapore was part of the Empire of 

Sultan Abdul Rahman of Johore, who 

was i recognized by the Dutch. The 

Sultan at Lingga was carefully 

watched j over by the Dutch and 

would certainly not be permitted by 

them to give the British permission to 

establish a settlement on the island, a 

settlement which would compete with 

the Dutch. 

The only way in which Raffles could 

obtain some legality for a settlement in 

Singapore island was by going back 

on the previous British recognition of 

Abdul Rahman as Sultan. After 

discussions with the Temenggong, 

Raffles proceeded to do just this: he 

recognized Tengku Hussein as Sultan 

and on January 6th, 1819, a treaty was 

signed between the newly installed 

Sultan who had been brought from 

Riau, the Temenggong and the East 

India Company. Raffles had obtained 

his site for a settlement. Writing soon 

afterwards to a friend in England, 

Raffles stated that ‗a more 

commanding and promising station for 

the protection and improvement of all 

our interests cannot well be 

conceived‘, and ‗it is impossible to 

conceive a place combining* more 

advantages... [it is] the Navel of the 

Malay countries. One fine port in 

these seas must eventually destroy the 

spell of Dutch monopoly.‘ 

 

By the terms of the treaty signed with 

the Sultan and the Temeng¬gong, the 

East India Company undertook to pay 

riêng một hòn đảo.  

Raffles biết rằng ông đang nằm trong 

phạm vi ảnh hƣởng của Hà Lan vì 

Singapore là một phần của đế chế 

Johore, dƣới quyền cai trị của quốc 

vƣơng Abdul Rahman, ngài đƣợc Hà 

Lan công nhận vƣơng vị. Quốc vƣơng 

Lingga bị Hà Lan giám sát chặt chẽ và  

nếu không có sự cho phép của Hà Lan, 

sẽ không chấp thuận cho Anh thiết lập 

một thuộc địa trên đảo, một thuộc địa 

mà trong tƣơng lai sẽ cạnh tranh với Hà 

Lan. 

 

 

Cách duy nhất mà Raffles có thể hợp 

pháp hóa thuộc địa Singapore là lật lại 

công nhận của Anh về quốc vƣơng 

Abdul Rahman. Sau khi bàn bạc với 

Temenggong, Raffles xúc tiến việc này: 

ông nhận thấy Tengku Hussein trở 

thành quốc vƣơng vào  ngày 06 tháng 

01 năm 1819, một hiệp ƣớc đƣợc ký kết 

đƣợc đƣa tới từ tân vƣơng Riau, các 

Temenggong và Công ty Đông Ấn Độ.  

 

 

Raffles đã xác định đƣợc vị trí thích hợp 

để chuyển đến. Ngay sau đó, Raffles 

viết thƣ cho một ngƣời bạn ở Anh, nội 

dung thƣ viết ' một đồn binh oai dũng và 

đầy hứa hẹn phục vụ cho việc bảo vệ và 

cải thiện quyền lợi của chúng ta có thể 

không đƣợc chấp thuận ", và" đã đến lúc 

để mƣờng tƣợng ra một nơi hội tụ nhiều 

ƣu điểm hơn nữa  ... [đó chính là] trung 

tâm của các nƣớc Mã Lai. Thành phố 

cảng tuyệt vời trong vùng biển này chắc 

chắn là nơi chôn vùi thế độc quyền ngắn 

ngủi của Hà Lan. " 

 

Theo các điều khoản của hiệp ƣớc đã ký 

với quốc vƣơng và Temenggong, Công 

ty Đông Ấn Độ đã phải trả mỗi năm một 



them $5,000 and $3,000 annually for 

the right to have a trading settlement 

on the island. The new settlement was 

now in existence but its future 

prospects were not particularly 

promising. There were two main 

dangers, in Holland and. in England. It 

was obviousvthat the Dutch would 

protest most forcibly against Raffles‘ 

activities, and there was also the 

danger of lack of support in England 

itself. Even the Governor-General in 

India had had second thoughts soon 

after giving Raffles permission to go ‗ 

ahead, but it had been too late to stop 

the expedition. Two other points were 

also important: firstly there was not at 

first much local Malay support for the 

British, for it was not definite how 

long the newcomers were going to 

remain and there was no wish to 

antagonize the Dutch. They had 

already seen the British leave Malacca 

and hand ; it back to the Dutch. 

Secondly Raffles did not receive much 

encourage- ; ment from the other 

British settlement of Penang whose 

Governor was jealous of Raffles‘ 

influence and success. 

THE RAPID GROWTH OF 

SINGAPORE  

 

The Dutch immediately submitted 

protests to the British Govern¬ment 

who were at first inclined to order 

Raffles to withdraw. Raffles had also 

made a treaty with Acheh, and the 

Dutch were so worried about the 

prospects of British influence in 

South-East Asia that they | offered to 

give up their ports in India if Raffles 

was ordered to abandon his settlement. 

However communications were slow 

in those days and j- it took messages 

khoản tiền là 5,000 đô la và 3,000 đô la 

để có quyền sở hữu một khu định cƣ 

thƣơng mại trên đảo. . Thuộc địa mới đã 

thiết lập nhƣng triển vọng tƣơng lai của 

nó không tƣơi sáng. Có hai mối nguy 

hiểm chính nằm ở Hà Lan và ở Anh. 

Hiển nhiên, Hà Lan sẽ dùng vũ lực 

chống lại hầu hết các hoạt động Raffles, 

sự thiếu hỗ trợ của Anh cũng là một mối 

nguy hiểm đáng lo ngại. Ngay cả Tổng 

toàn quyền Ấn Độ  

cũng phải suy nghĩ lại sau khi cho phép 

Raffles đi thám hiểm nhƣng đã quá 

muộn để ngăn chặn chuyến đi này. Hai 

vấn đề khác cũng quan trọng không 

kém: thứ nhất, lúc đầu không có nhiều 

dân bản địa Mã Lai hỗ trợ cho ngƣời 

Anh, vì họ chƣa rõ những ngƣời mới 

đến còn tiếp tục ở lại bao lâu nữa và họ 

cũng không muốn gây rắc rối với ngƣời 

Hà Lan. Họ đã trông thấy ngƣời Anh rời 

Malacca và giao mảnh đất này cho Hà 

Lan kiểm soát. Thứ hai, Raffles không 

nhận đƣợc nhiều lời động viên từ các 

thủ lĩnh thuộc địa Anh ở Penang vì họ 

ghen tị với sức ảnh hƣởng và sự thành 

công của ông.  

 

 

SỰ PHÁT TRIỂN VƢỢT BẬC CỦA 

SINGAPORE 

 

Hà Lan ngay lập tức gửi kháng nghị lên 

Chính phủ Anh vì lúc đầu các nhà cầm 

quyền nƣớc này muốn Raffles hủy bỏ 

cuộc thám hiểm. Raffles cũng thực hiện 

một hiệp ƣớc với Acheh, ngƣời Hà Lan 

lo ngại về sức ảnh hƣởng không nhỏ của 

Anh tại Đông Nam Á đến nỗi nếu 

Raffles nhận lệnh xóa sổ thuộc địa ông 

phát hiện ra thì Hà Lan cũng từ bỏ hải 

cảng của mình ở Ấn Độ.  

Tuy nhiên phƣơng tiện liên lạc thời đó 

còn lạc hậu nên thông tin phải mất 



many weeks to pass between Europe 

and Asia. Any- I way the new 

settlement was saved by its own rapid 

growth which took k; place during the 

long drawn-out Anglo-Dutch 

negotiations of 1820-3. I:lit February 

1819 when Raffles signed the 

agreement with Tengku Hussein and 

the Temenggong, the population of the 

island of Singa¬pore consisted of 

about one hundred and fifty orang laut 

fishermen, some Malay followers of 

the Temenggong, together with a 

small number of Chinese who were 

planters of gambier. But as soon as it I 

was realized that Raffles at least had 

every intention of making the 

settlement permanent, the earlier 

misgivings of the nearby inhabitants r 

disappeared, and the population 

increased very rapidly. By June 1819 

Raffles was reporting that the 

population had increased to five 

thousand and that the harbour was 

filled with small ships from many 

parts of the Archipelago. Those that 

came were Chinese, Bugis, and 

Malays from Malacca, which had now 

returned to Dutch control. The 

existence of a free-trade port naturally 

attracted the merchants of the fare a 

who for so long had been accustomed 

to the Dutch policy of [monopoly. By 

the end of 1820 the population had 

grown to ten thousand, and the value 

of Singapore‘s trade for that year was 

over jfour million dollars. By 1825 the 

approximate comparative trade figures 

for the three settlementsfvere as 

follows: Malacca: $2,500,000; 

pPenang: $8,500,000; Singapore: 

$22,185,000. It is little wonder 

there¬fore that the Governor of 

Penane. Colnnpl   * very 

nhiều tuần mới đến đƣợc châu Âu và 

châu Á. Dù sao chăng nữa, sự phát triển 

vƣợt bậc khiến thuộc địa mới vẫn tiếp 

tục tồn tại trong suốt các cuộc đàm phán 

giữa Anh và Hà Lan kéo dài từ năm 

1820-1823.  Tháng 2 năm 1819, khi 

Raffles ký thỏa thuận với Tengku 

Hussein và Temenggong, dân số của 

đảo Singapore bao gồm khoảng một 

trăm năm mƣơi ngƣ dân Orang Laut, đó 

là một số ngƣời theo tiếng Mã Lai của 

Temenggong, cùng với một số lƣợng 

nhỏ chủ đồn điền rau đằng ngƣời Trung 

Quốc. Nhƣng ngay khi ngƣời dân nhận 

ra rằng Raffles có ý định thiết lập một 

vùng định cƣ trên đảo, những nghi ngại 

trƣớc đó của họ đã biến mất, và dân số 

tăng lên rất nhanh. Vào tháng 6 năm 

1819 Raffles báo cáo rằng dân số đã 

tăng lên năm ngàn và bến cảng tấp nập 

các đoàn tàu nhỏ đến từ nhiều nơi của 

quần đảo. 

 

 

 

Hầu hết những ngƣời này là ngƣời 

Trung Quốc, ngƣời Bugis, và ngƣời Mã 

Lai đến từ Malacca, những vùng này 

nằm trong tầm kiểm soát của Hà Lan. 

Sự hiện hữu của một cảng thƣơng mại 

tự do đã thu hút các thƣơng gia vốn 

quen với các chính sách độc quyền của 

Hà Lan: họ phải mua vé vào cảng để 

làm ăn. Vào cuối năm 1820 dân số 

Singapore đã tăng lên đến mƣời ngàn, 

và giá trị thƣơng mại của Singapore 

trong năm đó là hơn bốn triệu đô la. 

Năm 1825, các số liệu thƣơng mại của 

ba khu định cƣ nhƣ sau: Malacca: 

2.500.000 đô la Penang: 8.500.000 đô 

la; Singapore: 22.185.000 đô la. Vì thế 

mà Thống đốc Penang phân vân 

Thảo dịch 

Colnnpl rất hứng thú về việc có khu 



enthusiastic about the establishment of 

another, and rival, settle-ment. 

However, neither is it any wonder that 

Dutch protests eventually brought 

little response in England. Singapore 

had become too success¬ful to give up 

to the Dutch. It was therefore by 

means of its own remarkable growth 

and success that Singapore survived 

the first difficult years. 

 

Its position was finally regularized, in 

Dutch eyes, by the Treaty of London, 

1824. This treaty was to be of very 

great importance to the future of the 

Malayan Archipelago and had very 

far-reaching results. In the first place 

the Dutch recognized Singapore as a 

British possession and withdrew their 

objections to the settlement. Secondly 

the two powers agreed to try to avoid 

future conflict by limiting their 

interests to distinct areas. The distinct 

areas were to be divided by a line 

drawn through the Straits of Malacca; 

areas south and west of this line were 

to be Dutch, areas north and east to be 

British. The islands were therefore to 

be within the Dutch ‗sphere of 

influence‘, while the Peninsula and 

Singapore were to be within the 

British sphere. In order to begin this 

demarcation correctly the settlements 

of Malacca and Bencoolen (which 

were on the wrong sides of the line) 

were exchanged. 

 

These were the immediate decisions, 

but what were the long term results of 

the Anglo-Dutch treaty? In return for 

no further Dutch influence ia the 

Peninsula, the British turned down, for 

the second time, the chance of 

establishing a South-East Asian 

định cƣ mới và  có tính cạnh tranh. Tuy 

nhiên, cả hai đều không ngạc nhiên nếu 

những phản kháng của ngƣời Hà Lan  sẽ 

khiến ngƣời Anh  phản ứng lại yếu ớt.  

Đảo Singapore đã quá phát triển đến nỗi 

không thể nhƣờng lại cho ngƣời Hà 

Lan. Bởi vậy nhờ vào sự thành công và 

tăng trƣởng vƣợt bậc, Singapore đã 

đứng vững trong những năm đầu khó 

khăn đó. 

 

Vị trí của Singapore cuối cùng đã đƣợc 

hợp thức hóa trong con mắt của ngƣời 

Hà Lan thông qua Hiệp ƣớc Luân-Đôn 

năm 1824. Hiệp ƣớc này có tính chất 

quyết định đối với tƣơng lai của quần 

đảo Mã-lai và có ảnh hƣởng rất sâu rộng 

sau này. Đầu tiên, ngƣời Hà Lan đã biết 

Singapore là thuộc quyền sở hữu của 

ngƣời Anh và ngừng việc chống đối ở 

các khu định cƣ. Thứ hai, cả 2 thế lực 

đều đồng ý tránh xảy ra các đụng độ 

trong tƣơng lai bằng cách hạn chế  

quyền lực của từng bên ở từng khu vực 

riêng biệt. Những khu vực này sẽ đƣợc 

phân chia theo đƣờng phân cách chạy 

ngang qua eo biển Malacca, khu vực 

phía nam và phía tây của đƣờng phân 

cách này thuộc về ngƣời Hà Lan, khu 

vực phía bắc và phía đông thuộc về 

ngƣời Anh. Nhƣ vậy, các hòn đảo chịu 

sự ảnh hƣởng của Hà Lan còn phía bán 

đảo và Singapore  thuộc quyền quản lý 

của ngƣời Anh. Để thực hiện đúng theo 

sự phân chia này, các khu định cƣ ở 

Malacca và Bencoolen nằm sai vị trí so 

với đƣờng phân cách đã đƣợc đổi lại. 

Những điều khoản này chỉ là những 

quyết định tạm thời, vậy còn những hệ 

lụy về lâu dài của hiệp định Anh-Hà 

Lan này là gì? Để đổi lại việc ngăn 

không cho ngƣời Hà Lan can thiệp vào 

vùng đất ở bán đảo, ngƣời Anh đã lần 

thứ hai từ chối cơ hội thiết lập một đế 



empire by com¬peting with the Dutch 

in the islands. It is interesting to 

speculate what would have been the 

results of Raffles‘ plans for retaining 

Java in 1815 and what would have 

happened if the British had not 

renounced their interest in Sumatra in 

1824, (a renunciation later confirmed 

in 1871); for Raffles had had the 

vision of a large area of South-East 

Asia under British protection. Was this 

the first vision of a Greater Malaysia? 

 

 

 

From a Malayan point of view the fact 

that the Dutch gave up any interest in 

the Peninsula meant that there was less 

likelihood of inter¬national 

competition in the Malay Peninsula, 

which was therefore removed from the 

area of international quarrels. A 

further result war the permanent 

division of the Johore Empire and the 

isolation of the Dutch-supported 

Sultan from the greater part of his 

former domains; Eventually, as we 

shall see, an entirely new ruling family 

(that of the; Temenggong) was 

established in. Johore. And finally as 

far as Britain was concerned the 

agreement also meant that the sea 

route to China was now secure. 

The last step in the consolidation of 

the position of Singapore wai  the 

signing of a second treaty with Sultan 

Hussein and the Temeng- gong in 

1824. Once the international position 

of the British settlement had been 

recognized by agreement with 

Holland, the East India Company 

wished to make its local position on 

the island more secure. The first treaty 

in 1819 had merely given the 

chế ở Đông Nam Á bằng việc tranh 

giành các hòn đảo của ngƣời Hà Lan. 

Điều này có thể giúp ích trong việc xem 

xét những hệ quả của kế hoạch Raffle 

trong việc giữ lại Java vào năm 1815 và 

những gì đã có thể xảy ra nếu ngƣời 

Anh đã không từ bỏ tham vọng của 

mình ở Sumatra vào năm 1824, (Sau đó 

một hiệp ƣớc từ bỏ đƣợc xác nhận vào 

năm 1871); bởi vì Raffles đã từng nghĩ 

đến viễn cảnh một khu vực rộng lớn ở 

Đông Nam Á thuộc quyền cai quản của 

Vƣơng quốc Anh. Liệu đây có phải là 

viễn cảnh đầu tiên về một Malaysia 

hùng mạnh hơn? 

Theo quan điểm của một ngƣời Mã Lai, 

việc ngƣời Hà Lan từ bỏ tham vọng đối 

với bán đảo có nghĩa là ít có khả năng 

xảy ra sự tranh giành bán đảo Malaysia 

giữa các nƣớc, và kéo theo là vùng đất 

này đƣợc loại ra khỏi những khu vực 

tranh chấp quốc tế. Một hệ quả xa hơn 

nữa là sự phân chia vĩnh viễn đế chế 

Johore và vùng đất tự trị của ngƣời Hà 

Lan theo phe Quốc vƣơng khỏi phần 

lãnh thổ trƣớc rộng lớn hơn. Rốt cuộc, 

nhƣ ngày nay chúng ta đã biết, toàn bộ 

gia tộc thống trị hoàn toàn mới (gia tộc 

Temenggong) đã ra đời tại Johore. Và 

cuối cùng chừng nào ngƣời Anh còn 

quan tâm đến hiệp định thì có nghĩa là 

tuyến đƣờng biển đến Trung Quốc vẫn 

đƣợc đảm bảo an toàn. 

Giai đoạn cuối cùng trong quá trình  

củng cố vị trí của Singapore chính là 

việc ký kết hiệp ƣớc thứ hai với Quốc 

vƣơng Husein và gia tộc Temenggong 

vào năm 1824. Một khi vị trí mang tầm 

quốc tế do ngƣời Anh xác lập đƣợc 

ngƣời Hà Lan công nhận bằng văn bản, 

công ty Đông Ấn Độ càng mong muốn 

tăng cƣờng bảo vệ cho vị trí đắc địa của 

hòn đảo này. Hiệp ƣớc đầu tiên kí kết 

vào năm 1819 mới chỉ cho phép công ty 



Company the right to have a 

settlement. By the second treaty the 

Sultan and the Temeng- gong agreed 

to give over the entire island to Britain 

forever. In return the Sultan was paid 

$33,200 and given a pension of $1,300 

a month for life, while the 

Temenggong received $26,800 and a 

pension of $700 per month for life. 

The Sultan did rather better than the 

Temenggong, for while the latter died 

in 1825, the Sultan lived in retirement 

at Malacca until 1835. 

 

Thus by 1824 the three British 

settlements, to be known as the Straits 

Settlements, were well established, 

and as a result British influence was 

also established on the periphery of 

the Malay Peninsula. The Dutch had 

left Malaya for good and had been 

replaced by the British. But despite the 

fact that the latter had no trading rivals 

in the region of the Malay Peninsula, 

the extension of British influence to 

the Malay states did not take place for 

another fifty years. In the eyes of the 

East India Company the Settlements 

were primarily for the protection of 

the trade route to China; but as will be 

seen below, this was not always the 

only idea of the merchants in the 

Settlements themselves. 
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này xây dựng khu định cƣ mới. Nhƣng 

với hiệp ƣớc thứ 2, Quốc vƣơng và gia 

tộc Temenggong đã đồng ý trao toàn bộ 

hòn đảo cho ngƣời Anh. Đổi lại Quốc 

vƣơng đƣợc trả 33,200 đô la Mỹ và tiền 

trợ cấp 1,300 đô la Mỹ/tháng đến cuối 

đời, còn gia tộc Temenggong cũng đƣợc 

nhận 26,800 đô la cùng khoản trợ cấp 

700 đô/tháng. Tuy Quốc vƣơng nhận 

đƣợc khoản tiền khá hơn gia tộc 

Temenggong, họ mất trƣớc vào năm 

1825, trong khi Quốc vƣơng lại sống 

trong an nhàn ở Malacca cho đến tận 

năm 1835. 

Nhƣ vậy đến năm 1824, có 3 khu định 

cƣ của ngƣời Anh đƣợc gọi là khu định 

cƣ ở eo biển đều đƣợc xây dựng chu 

đáo, và vì vậy tầm ảnh hƣởng của ngƣời 

Anh cũng đƣợc củng cố trong khu vực 

quần đảo Mã Lai. Ngƣời Hà Lan đã rời 

khỏi Malayan một cách yên bình và 

ngƣời Anh đã thay thế cho vị trí này. 

Nhƣng cho dù ngƣời Anh không có đối 

thủ cạnh tranh về giao thƣơng nào trong 

khu vực bán đảo Malaysia, ngƣời Anh 

đã không có một sự bành trƣớng thế lực 

nào ở Mã Lai trong 50 năm. Trong con 

mắt của công ty Đông Ấn Độ, việc định 

cƣ chỉ đơn thuần nhằm mục đích bảo vệ 

con đƣờng giao thƣơng với Trung Quốc, 

nhƣng tiếp theo sau đây chúng ta sẽ thấy 

đƣợc đây không phải là dụng ý duy nhất 

của các thƣơng nhân trong việc định cƣ 

này.  
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MALAYA IN THE EARLY 

NINETEENTH CENTURY 

BRITAIN'S POLICY OF NON-

INTERVENTION 

THE establishment of the Straits 

Settlements did not bring any great 

immediate change to the states of the 

Malay Peninsula. At first it merely 

meant that the British were now in 

contact with the Peninsula instead of 

the Dutch; for by the terms of the 1824 

Anglo-Dutch treaty the Dutch had 

conceded that Malaya lay within the 

British sphere of influence. But the 

British were not particularly interested 

in extending this influence to the 

Malay states and in fact for almost 

fifty years British policy did not look 

upon the Straits Settlements as 

beachheads for the ‗invasion‘ of 

Malaya but rather as ‗off-shore‘ 

trading posts having as little as 

possible to do with the politics of the 

mainland. Looking at Malayan history 

in the nineteenth century it perhaps 

seems odd that although the British 

had become in 1824 virtually the only 

European power in contact with 

Malaya, it was not until 1874 that 

Britain officially intervened in the 

states of the Peninsula. The main 

reason for this seemingly strange 

disinterest was that the East India 

Company had established the Straits 

Settlements for other reasons than the 

acquisition of territory in South-East 

Asia. The aira was primarily to protect 

the trade route to China and 

 

 

 

 

Xuân Quỳnh 

 

MALAYA NHỮNG NĂM ĐẦU THẾ 

KỶ 19 

CHÍNH SÁCH KHÔNG CAN THIỆP 

CỦA ANH  

Việc thành lập Các Khu Định Cƣ Eo 

Biển đã không mang lại bất kỳ thay đổi 

đột biến nào cho các tiểu bang của bán 

đảo Mã Lai. Ban đầu chỉ đơn thuần là 

việc ngƣời Anh tiếp quản bán đảo này 

thay  ngƣời Hà Lan; bởi vì trong các 

điều khoản của hiệp ƣớc 1824 giữa Anh 

và Hà Lan, ngƣời Hà Lan thừa nhận 

rằng Mã Lai nằm trong phạm vi ảnh 

hƣởng của ngƣời Anh. Tuy vậy ngƣời 

Anh đã không đặc biệt chú trọng đến 

việc mở rộng phạm vi ảnh hƣởng này 

tới các tiểu bang của Mã Lai và trên 

thực tế trong gần năm mƣơi năm, chính 

sách của Anh đã không nhìn nhận Các 

Khu Định Cƣ Eo Biển nhƣ là những vị 

trí đổ bộ để chuẩn bị cho việc ―xâm 

lƣợc‖ Mã Lai mà là những trạm thông 

thƣơng "quốc tế" càng có ít tác động 

đến chính trị ở đất liền càng tốt. Nhìn 

vào lịch sử Mã Lai thế kỷ XIX, một 

điều khá lạ là vào năm 1824 mặc dù 

ngƣời Anh gần nhƣ đã trở thành  thế lực 

duy nhất của Châu Âu tiếp xúc với 

ngƣời Mã Lai, nhƣng mãi đến năm 

1874, nƣớc Anh mới chính thức can 

thiệp vào các bang của bán đảo này. Lý 

do chính cho sự thờ ơ có vẻ kỳ lạ này là 

Công ty Đông Ấn Độ đã thành lập Các 

Khu Định Cƣ Eo Biển vì những lý do 

khác không nhằm mục đích giành đƣợc 

lãnh thổ ở Đông Nam Á. Mục đích 

chính là để bảo vệ tuyến đƣờng thƣơng 

mại với Trung Quốc và thứ nữa là để 



secondarily to establish trading centres 

for the whole Malayan region. 

 

The political pattern of the Peninsula 

showed no appreciable change in the 

years immediately following the 

consolidation of the British position in 

1824. The Siamese still exercised 

varying amounts of control over the 

northern states of Kedah, Kelantan and 

Trengganu, while the independent 

states of Perak, Selangor and the 

Minangkabau region had received 

additions in the form of the now 

independent states of Pahang and 

Johore. These latter had been part of 

the old Johore Empire but their 

territorial chiefs, the Bendahara and 

the Temenggong res-Malaya in the 

Early Nineteenth Century  pectively, 

had now become independent rulers in 

practice. This was -possible because 

one Sultan of Johore, Abdul Rahman, 

was in Dutch- controlled Lingga and 

had no contact with the mainland; the 

other, Sultan Hussein, was living in 

virtual retirement in Singapore. As has 

been said, there was no immediate 

desire by the British to take possession 

of any of these states, although the 

British did wish to make sure that no 

other power made an attempt to alter 

the status quo. Thus with a few 

exceptions, which will be outlined 

below, the Malayan states continued to 

pursue their own policies for the first 

three quarters . of the nineteenth 

century. 

It will be remembered that the 

initiative for the foundation of the 

Straits Settlements had been taken in 

India, by the Government of India. 

Penang had been established, 

Singapore had been established, i and 

thành lập các trung tâm thƣơng mại trên 

toàn khu vực Mã Lai.  

 

Mô hình chính trị của bán đảo này 

không có sự thay đổi nào đáng kể trong 

những năm ngay sau khi ngƣời Anh 

củng cố xong địa vị của mình vào năm 

1824. Ngƣời Xiêm vẫn còn nhiều quyền 

kiểm soát ở các bang Kedah, Kelantan 

và Trengganu ở phía bắc, trong khi các 

tiểu bang độc lập Perak, Selangor và 

khu vực Minangkabau đã đƣợc nhận bổ 

xung dƣới hình thức các tiểu bang độc 

lập Pahang và Johore.  

Pahang và Johore trƣớc kia là một phần 

của đế chế Johore cũ, nhƣng các thủ 

lĩnh Bendahara của lãnh thổ Pahang và 

Temenggong của lãnh thổ Johore thực 

tế đã trở thành những nhà cai trị độc lập.  

 

Điều này có thể là do một vị quốc 

vƣơng của Johore, Abdul Rahman, sống 

ở đảo Lingga dƣới sự kiểm soát của 

ngƣời Hà Lan và không đƣợc tiếp xúc 

với đất liền; vị kia, quốc vƣơng Hussein 

thì đang sống ẩn dật tại Singapore. Nhƣ 

đã nói ở trên, ngƣời Anh không ngay 

lập tức chiếm bất cứ bang nào trong các 

tiểu bang này, mặc dù họ rất muốn đảm 

bảo rằng không có bất kì một thế lực 

nào khác cố gắng thay đổi vị trí của họ. 

Vì vậy, với một vài ngoại lệ, sẽ đƣợc 

trình bày sơ lƣợc dƣới đây, các tiểu 

bang Mã Lai tiếp tục theo đuổi các 

chính sách của mình trong ba phần tƣ 

đầu của thế kỷ XIX. 

 

 

Nhƣ chúng ta đã biết việc khởi xƣớng 

thành lập Các Khu Định Cƣ Eo Biển đã 

đƣợc diễn ra ở Ấn Độ bởi chính phủ Ấn 

Độ. Penang đƣợc thành lập, Singapore 

đƣợc thành lập, và Malacca đã đƣợc 

chính phủ Ấn Độ, thực tế là Công ty 



Malacca had been taken over by the 

Government of India which jwas in 

fact the East India Company. The 

Settlements were looked jupon as 

parts of the domain of the East India 

Company, and we have :seen that 

Penang had been created the fourth 

Presidency of India in 1805. In 1826 

Singapore and Malacca ceased to be 

the direct respon¬sibility of Calcutta 

and were brought under the 

administration of the Penang 

Presidency; that is, all the Settlements 

were then under the charge of one 

government. However the Indian 

Government had also begun to realize 

that it had over-estimated the 

importance and status of Penang and 

also of the combined Straits 

Settlements; to equate . them with the 

other Presidencies of Bombay, Madras 

and Calcutta had been wishful 

thinking. The Straits Settlements had 

acquired a top- ; heavy administration, 

and they were expensive to administer. 

They had an annual deficit (because of 

costs of administration) of about 

$850,000 per year and in fact ari 

annual deficit was to continue until 

1864 5. 

 

[ The result was that in 1829 the status 

of the Straits Settlements was | 

reduced to that of Residency under the 

Governor of Bengal and this, [ in 

effect, meant that the three Settlements 

were to be administered as [ though 

they were part of Bengal. As a result 

they became more 5 dominated by the 

Indian Government and more subject 

to the influences of Indian policy. 

Then in 1832 the headquarters of the \ 

Residency was moved from Penang to 

Singapore. This was in recogni¬tion of 

Đông Ấn Độ tiếp quản. Các Khu Định 

Cƣ đƣợc xem nhƣ là các khu vực của 

lãnh địa Công ty Đông Ấn Độ, và chúng 

ta biết rằng Penang đã trở thành bang 

thứ 4 của Ấn Độ vào năm 1805. Năm 

1826 Singapore và Malacca không còn 

chịu sự quản lý trực tiếp của Calcutta 

mà chịu sự quản lý của bang Penang; 

điều này có nghĩa là, tất cả Các Khu 

Định Cƣ đều do một chính  quyền điều 

hành.  

 

 

 

Tuy nhiên, chính phủ Ấn Độ cũng đã 

bắt đầu nhận ra rằng vai trò và tầm quan 

trọng của Penang và cũng nhƣ của Các 

Khu Định Cƣ Eo Biển liên kết đã đƣợc 

đánh giá quá cao để đƣa tầm quan trọng 

và vị trí của bang này ngang hàng với 

các bang Bombay, Madras and Calcutta 

đó chỉ là mơ tƣởng. Các Khu Định Cƣ 

Eo Biển đã đƣợc điều hành bởi một bộ 

máy chính quyền cực kỳ cồng kềnh và 

để vận hành bộ máy cồng kềnh này thì 

rất tốn kém. Mỗi năm họ bị thâm hụt 

ngân sách (do chi phí quản lý) khoảng 

850,000 đô la và thực tế sự thâm hụt 

hàng năm này còn tiếp tục cho đến năm 

1864 là 5??? 

 

Kết quả là năm 1829, vai trò của Các 

Khu Định Cƣ Eo Biển bị giảm xuống 

chỉ còn là các vùng thuộc sự quản lý của 

thống đốc bang Bengal, và điều này, 

trong thực tế, cho thấy ba Khu Định Cƣ 

đó đƣợc quản lý nhƣ một phần của bang 

Bengal. Kết quả là chúng bị chính phủ 

Ấn Độ chi phối nhiều hơn  và  chịu ảnh 

hƣởng của chính sách Ấn Độ. Sau đó, 

vào năm 1832 trụ sở Phủ Thống Sứ 

đƣợc chuyển từ Penang đến Singapore. 

Điều này chứng tỏ sự tƣơng đối quan 

trọng của hai nơi, vì khi đó Singapore 



the relative importance of the two 

places, for Singapore had by this time 

developed almost three times the trade 

of Penang and was rapidly growing in 

both population and prosperity. The 

fact that the Straits Settlements were 

administered as part of India meant 

that the 

 

đã phát triển thƣơng mại gần bằng ba 

lần so với Penang và cả dân số và sự 

hƣng thịnh đều đang gia tăng nhanh 

chóng. Thực tế là Các Khu Định Cƣ Eo 

Biển đƣợc quản lý nhƣ một phần của 

Ấn Độ có nghĩa là… 

 

 




